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Who We Are
Asian Pac Holdings Berhad is a company listed on the main market of Bursa Malaysia Securities 

Berhad with operations in investment holding, property investment and development. Asian Pac is 

committed to the development on quality properties and aimed to be one of the mainstream property 

developers.
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KK TIMES SQUARE
PHAse II

As the latest and largest addition to Kota Kinabalu’s 

prime shopping and commercial strip, KK Times 

Square is the most exciting mixed commercial/

residential development to emerge out of East 

Malaysia in years. Conceived as a self contained, fully 

equipped city with the most up-to-date infrastructure 

and amenities available, KK Times Square aims to 

be a vibrant hive of activity that provides occupants 

and visitors alike with a rewarding and memorable 

experience.

THE MALL
KK tIMes sQUARe

The Group have been putting its best efforts into its 

design to make the shopping mall into a Grade A mall 

to dominate the market by banking on its location 

in a prime area and ensuring it is well planned and 

managed. The shopping mall in KK Times Square will 

be professionally managed shopping centre in Sabah 

where its retail units are only available for lease. The 

shopping mall net lettable space of 800,000sf on 4 

floors has already attracted strong response from the 

international & regional fashion brands and Parkson 

has signed up as its anchor tenant.

PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
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PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
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THE LOFT
KK tIMes sQUARe

The Loft offers residents an integrated city living with first-class 

amenities in downtown Kota Kinabalu. The Loft comprises 5 

blocks of 9 and 10 storey of luxury and exclusive serviced 

residences with total of 631 units on a 15-acre development. 

The Loft is the only development in Malaysia that enjoys 

panoramic views of an international renowned golf course 

and the spectacular South China Sea.

PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
(Cont’d)
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ECO DECK @ THE LOFT
KK tIMes sQUARe

The Eco Deck Park, an elevated 3 acres greenery park with 

landscaped water feature, garden, sculptured lawns and 

modern green features, an infinity and lap pool with a chic 

poolside lounge. It also offers gym facilities, interactive 

children’s playground and a covered walk path providing 

access & recreation for residents and visitors alike.

PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
(Cont’d)
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PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
(Cont’d)
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DATARAN LARKIN
joHoR BAHRU

Dataran Larkin, the first of its kind in Larkin’s Commercial Zone. The new 

commercial development that sits on 11-acre of freehold land is developed 

in a very prime location as it is in Johor Bahru City and next to the largest 

transportation hub- Larkin Bus and Taxi Terminal.

Dataran Larkin has launched Phase I which consists of 79 units of 2 and 

3 storey shop/office in April 2012 and Phase II, 30 units of 3 storey shop/

office is expected to be launched in 2013. Within 3 months after the official 

launched, 65% of the phase I shop/office have already been sold.

PRojeCt HIgHlIgHts
(Cont’d)
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PARCEL B4 
KePong

The FORTUNE series has been a great success story in Kepong. 
The Group is continuing with the success by planning two more 
mixed developments which are currently named as Fortune Perdana 

and Parcel B3.

Fortune Perdana, a mixed development concept fronting Kepong 

Metropolitan Park, sits on a land size of 6-acre. It consists of 36 

units of 2 storey shop/office and 3 blocks of serviced residences 

totalling 576 units.

The development targets professionals, young families and investors. 

It is targeted to be launched in the 4th Quarter of 2012.

UP CoMIng develoPMent
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PARCEL B3 
KePong

The design and planning of Parcel B3 is in its preliminary stage. This 
development is earmarked for 28 units of 1 to 2 storey of shop/office 
and approximately 465 units of serviced residences.

The sales launch of this development is anticipated to be in the 3rd 
Quarter of 2013.

UP CoMIng develoPMent
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CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Group registered a positive growth of 143% in 
its turnover which increased from RM36.5 million in 
the previous financial year to RM88.6 million in the 
current financial year. The key driver to the Group’s 
revenue growth was from the property development 
segment which was mainly contributed by The Loft 
@ KK Times Square 2 (“KKTS 2”) in Kota Kinabalu, 
Sabah.

The pre-tax profit of RM7.8 million in the current 
financial year was slightly lower as compared to RM8.1 
million in the preceding financial year. The decline in 
pre-tax profit was due to high initial marketing costs, 
higher operating expenses, several provisions and 
losses arising from an internal reorganization within 
the Group which inter-alia include the disposal of 
subsidiary companies that no longer fit into the Group 
structure and revised business plans. 

However, the profit after tax attributable to the 
shareholders increased 38.9% to RM15.7 million 
from RM11.3 million in the previous financial year due 
to write back of provision of deferred tax, income not 
subject to tax and utilization of tax losses and capital 
allowances in the current financial year.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The world economy in year 2011 faced a difficult 
environment with challenges ranging from the US 
and Euro-zone debts crisis, earthquakes and tsunami 
in Japan, flooding in Thailand to the political unrest in 
North Africa and Middle East, resulting in the world 
economy shrinking to 3.9% in 2011 as compared 
to 5.3% in 2010. Locally, the Malaysian economy 
was also affected by such uncertainties and thus 
expanded at a slower pace of 5.1% in 2011 as 
compared to 7.2% in 2010.

Despite the above challenges, the Group’s operations 
in three major segments recorded improvement, in 
particular the property development segment. The 
property development segment’s results would 
have been better if not for the cooling effects in 
the property market as a result of the regulatory 
tightening introduced by Bank Negara to control the 
household debts.

“On behalf of the Board of 

directors, I am pleased to 

present the Annual Report and 

Audited Financial Statements 

of the Group and the Company 

for the financial year ended 31 

March 2012.”
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Dataran Larkin 1 @ Johor Bahru

Dataran Larkin 1 is the Group’s first development 
in Johor Bahru and it consists of 79 units of 2 and 
3 storey shop/office. This project sits on 9-acre 
of prime freehold land which is developed by our 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Changkat Fajar Sdn Bhd 
with a GDV of approximately RM110 million. We have 
launched Dataran Larkin 1 in April 2012 and the sales 
achieved are more than 65% for the last 3 months 
which is commendable for our first project in Johor 
Bahru.

Currently, the earthwork is almost completed and 
piling works is being mobilized at site. We anticipate 
completing this project towards the fourth quarter of 
2014.

Fortune Perdana @ Lakeside, Kuala Lumpur

Situated on 6-acre of prime land in the high growth 
area of Kepong Entrepreneurs’ Park, Fortune 
Perdana comprises 36 units of shop/office and 3 
blocks of 576 serviced residences facing the lake at 
Kepong Metropolitan Park. The 3 blocks of serviced 
residences, offer 3 major types of sizes with innovative 
and contemporary designs to suit the different needs 
of our purchasers. Fortune Perdana is designed to be 
Green Building Index (“GBI”) compliant which targets 
to increase resources usage efficiency and reduces 
the building impact to human health and environment. 

CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent
(Cont’d)

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The property development segment remains the 
Group’s main contributor to the Group’s results in 
the current financial year. However, the results were 
affected by the above uncertainties and challenges 
which had dampened the demand for our products. 

Nevertheless, we remain focus on our core 
businesses and strive to provide innovative concepts 
and designs with good quality products to meet the 
changing needs of our customers. We have also 
stepped-up our marketing efforts and introduced 
creative marketing ideas to facilitate the sales in 
addition to expanding into other regional locations 
such as Singapore, Brunei and Sarawak. On top of 
our existing project in KKTS 2, there will be two new 
development projects with a total Gross Development 
Value (“GDV”) of RM480 million in Johor Bahru City 
and Klang Valley to further strengthen our revenue for 
the next financial year. The status of these projects is 
as follows:

The Loft @ KKTS 2, Kota Kinabalu

The Loft is a residential development consisting 5 
blocks of 9 and 10 storey of serviced residences 
located opposite Sutera Habour and fronting the 
Coastal highway in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah. The Loft 
has a 3-acre elevated Eco-Deck Park with landscaped 
garden and facilities which sits at the centre of the 
KKTS 2 development project. This development has 
a GDV of approximately RM550 million. As of todate, 
we have launched 4 of the 5 blocks of serviced 
residences and achieved 60% sales. The sales were 
slightly affected by the regulatory measures imposed 
by Bank Negara on the loan-to-value ratio provided 
by the end-financiers.

The construction works is progressing well and 
the superstructure work for certain blocks had 
reached the third level. We estimate to complete the 
construction works in the fourth quarter of 2013 and 
hand over the properties to the purchasers in the first 
half of 2014.



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 212

CAR PARK OPERATIONS

For the year under review, the carpark operations 
continue to grow and its revenue increased by 
25% from RM1.74 million to RM2.18 million. This 
segment profit increased by a higher margin of 30% 
from RM898,000 to RM1.17 million in the current 
financial year and contributed approximately 15% 
to the Group’s results. We are adding another 2,100 
carpark bays to our existing 1,323 carpark bays upon 
the completion of the shopping mall in KKTS 2. Thus, 
we expect this segment to contribute substantially to 
the Group’s results in the future.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY (“CR”)

We continue to implement steps to enhance our 
corporate responsibility to all our stakeholders as 
identified in the following areas of the marketplace, 
community, employees and environment. 

The marketplace

In our development, the Group is committed to build 
quality end products and infrastructures to serve the 
surrounding community. One of our main proposed 
contributions is the KK Times Square New Link 
Road Bridge where the ground breaking ceremony 
is officiated by the Mayor of Kota Kinabalu, Datuk 
Abidin Madingkir on 24 June 2012. The 87.4-metre 
long and 28.4-metre wide Link Road Bridge with an 
estimated cost of RM15 million could accommodate 
three lanes in both directions as well as a bicycle track 
that will provide another road network to the Kota 
Kinabalu city. The Link Road Bridge will ease traffic 
congestion and aims to bring long term benefits to 
the community of Kota Kinabalu.

Our employees

We continue our efforts to promote proficiency and 
enhance the knowledge of our employees through the 
training and seminars provided by the professional 

CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent
(Cont’d)

In addition, this project has approximately 2-acre of 
facilities deck at level 5 with vast landscape for the 
exclusive use of the residents and thus creating value 
to our purchasers.

This development has an estimated GDV of RM370 
million. We target to launch the serviced residences in 
the fourth quarter of 2012 and we are optimistic that 
the demand will be encouraging due to its strategic 
location and product designs.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

We remain steadfast in our commitment to expand 
our property investment segment to spread our risks 
and earnings contribution. In addition to the existing 
property investment assets, the construction works 
for the shopping mall on the 15-acre of prime land in 
Kota Kinabalu is progressing well. Upon completion, 
KKTS 2 will be a first class integrated development 
that is professionally managed and will be known as 
the ‘preferred address’ in Kota Kinabalu.

Concurrently, we have also appointed CB Richard 
Ellis (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd and Shanghai Yinsheng 
Management Consultancy Co. Ltd as the Retail 
Planning & Joint Leasing Agent and management 
consultant for the shopping mall. The road map for the 
interior design, retail concept, retailer specification 
and layout, the property management and operations 
of the shopping mall are being drawn up to ensure 
smooth implementation.
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bodies in the employees’ respective field. For the year 
under review, the Group appointed a consultant to 
assist in reviewing, identify shortcomings and made 
amendments to improve the project development 
functions within the Property Division to assists the 
employees to carry out their job functions efficiently 
and effectively. 

We appreciate that strong bonding and team spirit 
among employees is vital for the continued success 
of our business operations. In our effort to foster 
closer interactions among employees, we organized 
a hiking and educational day trip to Gua Tempurung, 
Ipoh on 2 June 2012 and are in the process of 
planning a holiday trip to reward the employees after 
a hectic and an eventful year.

Our community

The Group contributed RM470,000 to Dewan 
Bandaraya Kuala Lumpur to upgrade the open space 
at Metropolitan Park to build a children playground 
to serve the surrounding community in Kepong. In 
addition, we have also contributed to the community 
in Taman Angkasa Pantai Dalam, Kuala Lumpur for 
them to organize a tuition centre to help the poor 
students to prepare for their coming examination. 
The Group also made direct contribution to Mykasih 
Foundation, Pertubuhan Pendidikan Anak-Anak 
Yatim Selangor, Pertubuhan Kebajikan Skizofrenia 
Malaysia, TSM Charity Golf and Majlis Sukan Negara 
Malaysia to support the activities carried out by these 
organizations.

Our environment

It is an on-going exercise to bring awareness of 
the impact of our actions to the environment and 
we strive to keep the negative environment impact 
to the minimum in developing our projects. Beside 
adherence to the regulatory guidelines, the Group 
also conducts environment impact studies and plans 
development projects that will be GPI certified.

CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent
(Cont’d)

PROSPECTS

The challenging and difficult environments in the 
global economy in 2011 are expected to continue 
in 2012. However, we believe that the Malaysian 
economy will be able to sustain its momentum with 
the implementation of the government’s Economic 
Transformation Programme and the tenth Malaysia 
plan. The roll-out of the major infrastructure projects 
are expected to have the spill-over effect to other 
related sectors and thus will help to spur the domestic 
economy.

We remain confident of the Group’s ability to grow 
the value of our core businesses in view of the 
expected resilient domestic economy, low interest 
rate environment and the strategic locations of our 
properties. We view positively that the new and 
expected launches of our development projects will 
strengthen our sales and provide sustainable growth 
to the Group in the coming years.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to 
express my deepest appreciation and gratitude to our 
valued stakeholders: our purchasers, shareholders, 
business partners, financiers and the regulatory 
authorities for the continued support and trust in the 
Group throughout the year.

I would also like to record my sincere thanks to 
the management and staff for their unwavering 
dedication, commitment and tireless efforts shown 
to the Group.

Lastly, I would like to thank my fellow Directors for 
your invaluable counsel and contribution to the 
Group.

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin 
   Bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas
Chairman 
15 August 2012



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 214

FInAnCIAl HIgHlIgHts

5 YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Years Ended 31 March
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Revenue (RM’000) 228,740 83,407 101,643 36,453 88,610
Net Profit Attributable to Equity Holders (RM’000) 28,673 1,142 20,297 11,285 15,702
Earning Per Share (Sen) 3.0 0.1 2.1 1.2 1.6
Net Assets Per Share (Sen) 28.1 28.2 30.3 31.9 33.2
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FInAnCIAl HIgHlIgHts

5 YEAR GROUP FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Financial Years Ended 31 March
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Shareholder Equity (RM’000)  274,410  275,552  295,849  310,726  323,751 
Return on Equity (%) 10.4 0.4 6.9 3.6 4.8
Net debt (RM'000) (Note 35, Page 108)  190,939  157,530  99,295  109,961  140,144 
Gearing Ratio (%) (Note 35, Page 108) 41 36 25 26 30
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Tan Sri DaTo’ Seri Hj MegaT najMuDDin Bin DaTuk Seri Dr Hj MegaT kHaS
Malaysian, aged 68

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman of the Company on 19 October 1994. He is an Independent Director and serves as the 
Chairman of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the Company.

He holds an Honours Degree in Law from the University of Singapore. He was a lawyer by profession and 
practiced for 14 years until 1986 when he went into full time politics. He was formerly the State Assemblyman 
of Kelana Jaya, Selangor for two terms (1986 – 1990 and 1990 – 1995).

He was appointed Executive Committee Member of the Federation of Public Listed Companies Berhad (FPLC) 
in August 1994 and elected President in October 1997. He represents this organization to the High Finance 
Committee of the Ministry of Finance. Further, he was also one of the first members of the Management 
Committee of the Malaysian Institute of Corporate Governance (MICG), and was elected President in April 
1998.  In addition, he was appointed as a member of the National Economic Advisory Council 2 (NEAC 2) by 
the then Prime Minister, where he was involved in the Human Resource Development Works Committee. In 
September 1999, he was appointed to the Capital Market Strategic Committee by the then Finance Minister 
and in August 2001, he was appointed as a member of the Corporate Debt Restructuring Committee (CDRC) 
of Bank Negara. He now sits on UMNO (Ruling Party) Malaysia’s Disciplinary Committee and is an Adjunct 
Professor at Faculty of Law, University Utara Malaysia. He is currently made a member of the Advisory Board 
of the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (MACC) and Bank Negara Malaysia’s Financial Directors’ 
Education Steering Committee (FIDE).

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin also holds directorships in SEG International Bhd (Chairman), Formis 
Resources Berhad (Chairman), Tradewinds Corporation Berhad (Chairman), MajuPerak Holdings Berhad 
(Chairman) and Petroliam Nasional Berhad (PETRONAS).

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin attended all the 5 board meetings which were held in the financial 
year ended 31 March 2012. He has direct shareholdings of 1,857,000 ordinary shares of RM0.20 each in the 
Company.

He does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company and 
there is no business arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest. He does not have 
any conviction for offences within the past 10 years.

DaTo’ MuSTapHa Bin Buang
Malaysian, aged 64

Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang is the Managing Director of the Company. He first joined the Board as a Non-
Executive Director on 14 October 1994. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman 
of the Employees’ Share Option Scheme Committee.

He holds a degree in Economics from University Malaya. After graduation in 1972, he joined the Johore State 
Government as an Economic Planner. He then joined the finance industry from the year 1974 holding senior 
management position and gathered 16 years experience in the finance sector. He also holds directorships in 
several private limited companies.

Dato’ Mustapha attended all the 5 board meetings which were held in the financial year ended 31 March 
2012. He has direct and indirect shareholding of 32,850,985 and 800,000 ordinary shares of RM0.20 each in 
the Company respectively.

Dato’ Mustapha does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the 
Company and there is no business arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest. He 
does not have any conviction for offences within the past 10 years.

directors’ Profile
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DaTo’ MoHaMeD SalleH Bin Bajuri
Malaysian, aged 61

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
on 27 March 2001. He is also a member of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the 
Company.

He obtained his Chartered Accountant qualification from the Institute of Chartered Accountants, Ireland and 
is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA).

He started his career in Malaysia in 1978 with Peat Marwick & Co. as Senior Audit. In 1979, he joined Mayban 
Finance Berhad as Manager and was subsequently promoted to General Manager in 1982. He was then 
promoted to General Manager of Malayan Banking Berhad in 1988 and served in this position until 1992. 
In 1992, Dato’ Salleh served as the Managing Director of JB Securities Sdn Bhd, a stockbroking firm which 
he was a founder member. After selling his equity stake in the said stockbroking firm in 1995, he joined 
CRSC Holdings Berhad as an Executive Director. CRSC is principally engaged in property development and 
property management. 

Between 1982 and 1987, he was Alternate Chairman of the Association of Finance Companies in Malaysia 
(AFCM) and was Chairman of the AFCM Committees for Education and Public Relations. He has also served 
as a Director in Saham Sabah Berhad from 1997 to 1999. He was a trustee for Tabung Anak-Anak Melayu 
Pontian from 1995 to 2006 and Yayasan Kebajikan SDARA from 1997 to 2002. He was a Chairman of Agro 
Bank Malaysia (formerly known as Bank Pertanian Malaysia Berhad) from 2008 until June 2010. Dato’ Salleh 
has been the Treasurer at Tan Sri Muhyiddin Charity Golf since 2007.

Dato’ Salleh is presently a Director of Eden Inc. Berhad, Harbour Link Group Berhad, SAM Engineering & 
Equipment (M) Bhd and Milux Corporation Bhd, all public companies listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad. 

Dato’ Salleh attended all the 5 board meetings which were held in the financial year ended 31 March 2012. He 
does not hold any shares in the Company, but participated in the Employees’ Share Option Scheme.

Dato’ Salleh does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company 
and there is no business arrangement with the Company in which he has a personal interest. He does not 
have any conviction for offences within the past 10 years.

Tan Siew poH
Malaysian, aged 49

Ms Tan Siew Poh was appointed to the Board of the Company as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
on 18 March 2008. She is also a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.

Ms Tan graduated from the University of Melbourne, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce majoring in 
Accounting and Economics and is a Certified Practising Accountant. She is a member of the CPA Australia 
and Malaysia Institute of Accountants. Ms Tan commenced her career with Prudential Assurance Berhad 
for about three years in the Investment Division before moving on to join the Corporate Finance Division in 
Asian International Merchant Bankers Berhad in 1990. Ms Tan then joined Rashid Hussein Securities Sdn 
Bhd in 1993 and last held the position of Assistant General Manager of Corporate Finance, before moving 
on to oversee the Corporate Planning Division of the group in 1996. Presently, she is also a director of South 
Malaysia Industries Berhad. 

Ms Tan attended all the 5 board meetings which were held in the financial year ended 31 March 2012. She 
had direct shareholdings of 850,436 ordinary shares of RM0.20 each in the Company.

Ms Tan does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company, nor 
any conflict of interest in any business arrangement with the Company in which she has a personal interest. 
She does not have any conviction for offences within the past 10 years.

directors’ Profile
(cont’d)
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The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and ensuring 
that the principles and best practices on corporate governance are observed and practiced throughout the 
Group. It strives to continually improve and comply with the processes and structure as articulated in the 
Principles and Best Practices set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”).

The principles of the Code are divided into four Sections:-

Section 1: Directors
Section 2: Directors’ Remuneration
Section 3: Shareholders
Section 4: Accountability and Audit

In preparing this report, the Board has considered the manner in which it has applied the Principles of the 
Code and the extent to which it has complied with the Best Practices of the Code.

SeCTion 1: DireCTorS

The Board of Directors and Board Balance

The Board presently has four (4) members, which comprises the Managing Director, two (2) Independent Non-
Executive Directors and a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, fulfilling the prescribed requirements for 
one-third (1/3) of the membership of the Board to be Independent Board Members. Together, the Directors 
have the necessary mix of skills and experience ranging from business, finance, legal, property development 
and corporate to general disciplines in managing the Group’s business. A profile of each Director is presented 
on pages 17 to 18 of this Report.

No individual or group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making and the number of directors 
reflects fairly the investment of the shareholders. The presence of a majority of non-executive Directors in the 
Board ensures the balance of power in the exercise of objective and independent judgment on corporate issues 
dealt with at the Board level, to safeguard the interest of major stakeholders and the minority shareholders 
respectively.

The Board has overall responsibility for the proper conduct of the Group’s business. The Board meets on a 
quarterly basis and additionally as required. The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved 
for its decision, including overall of strategic decisions on the annual operating plan and the monitoring of the 
Group’s operating and financial performance.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2012, a total of five (5) Board meetings were held. The attendances 
of the Directors at Board Meetings held during the financial year are as follows:-

name of Directors number of Meetings attended/Held
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin

Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas 5/5
Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang 5/5
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri 5/5
Tan Siew Poh 5/5

corPorate governance stateMent
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Committees established by the Board

The Board has delegated certain functions to the committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities:

● audit Committee
 The Audit Committee was set up on 28 July 1994. The terms of reference and summary of activities of 

the Audit Committee are set out on pages 25 to 28 of this Report.

● nomination Committee
 The Nomination Committee was formalized on 29 May 2002, comprising exclusively Non-Executive 

Directors in accordance with the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance. 
 
 The Nomination Committee is empowered to bring to the Board recommendations as to the appointment 

of any new executive or non-executive director, provided that the Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee, in developing such recommendations, consults all directors and reflects that consultation 
in any recommendation of the Nomination Committee brought forward to the Board.

● remuneration Committee
 The Remuneration Committee was set up in May 2001. They are responsible for developing the 

remuneration framework and remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and recommending 
the same to the Board for approval.

● employees’ Share option Scheme Committee
 The Employees’ Share Option Scheme Committee (“ESOS Committee”) was formed on 13 April 

2006 primarily to administer the Employees’ Share Option Scheme in accordance with the scheme’s 
objectives, By-Laws and guidelines affecting the scheme. The ESOS Committee meets as and when 
required.

The respective Committees operate under clearly defined terms of reference and the Chairman of the 
respective Committees report to the Board on the outcome of the Committee Meetings.

Supply of information

The Directors are provided with timely and relevant information to discharge their duties and responsibilities, 
which include, amongst other, quarterly and annual financial statements, board papers recommending 
business and operational decisions, corporate and business development plans, status reports, minutes of 
meetings and reports/opinions from independent advisors.

All Directors have access to the information from the Group’s senior management and the Company Secretaries’ 
advices and services. If required, the Directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity may take 
independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties at the Company’s expense.

appointments to the Board

The Nomination Committee is responsible for assessing and making recommendations on any new 
appointments to the Board for deliberation. In making these recommendations, due consideration is given 
in the required mix of skills, expertise, knowledge and experience that the proposed directors shall bring to 
complement the Board.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the 
committees of the Board and the contributions of each Director on an ongoing basis. The Board is also 
annually reviewed by the Nomination Committee the required mix of skills, experiences and other qualities 
including core competencies.

corPorate governance stateMent
(cont’d)
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corPorate governance stateMent
(cont’d)

re-election

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that at every annual general meeting of the Company, 
one-third of Directors for the time being and those appointed during the financial year shall retire from office 
and shall be eligible for re-election. The Articles further provide that all Directors shall retire from office once 
at least in each three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Training

All members of the Board have attended Mandatory Accreditation Program prescribed by Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).  In addition, the Directors attended training programmes, conferences 
and seminars to keep abreast with relevant developments in the business environment as well as new 
regulatory requirements on a continuous basis in compliance with the Paragraph 15.08 of the Main Market 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

The Directors having during the financial year ended 31 March 2012, attended the trainings covered a range 
of topics which provided the Directors with updates on business trends and management, risk management, 
corporate governance, financial and audit. These trainings are regarded as appropriate in providing the 
Directors with continuous education and enhancement of their knowledge and skill in discharging of their 
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Among the programmes attended were:

● MICG Strategic Investor Relations & Effective Corporate Communication 2011
● MICG Medical Negligence, Mediation & Medical Records Up-keeping Conference 2011
● MICG National Land & Property Governance Conference for the Public Sector 2011
● 16th Asia Oil and Gas Conference  
● Suria Capital’s Public Luncheon Talk “Driving Corporate Substainability through Corporate Governance
● Perdana Leadership Foundation : CEO Forum 2011
● Internal Audit, Internal Control & Compliance Conference 2011
● Going Public Conference 2011 
● Scrutinising Financial Statement Fraud and Detection of Red Flag for Directors and Officers of PLC’s 

and Government Regulatory Agencies
● 1st International Conference on Corporate Governance, Zagreb, Croatia 
● Rajaratnam School of International Studies (RSIS), Nanyang University, Singapore
● National Procurement Forum for the Public & Private Sector 2011
● Kursus Tadbir Urus Berkesan bagi Anggota Lembaga Koperasi
● Napoleon Hill Convention: Making A Difference
● Internal Audit, Internal Control & Compliance Conference 2011 “Nexus between Audit Committee 

(Board) and Internal Audit in discharging effective governance”

SeCTion 2: DireCTorS’ reMuneraTion

remuneration policy and procedure

The Remuneration Committee reviews the annual salaries, incentive programmes, service arrangements and 
other employment conditions for the Executive Directors. They shall ensure that the Company’s Directors 
are fairly rewarded for their individual contributions to the Company’s overall performance and the levels of 
remuneration shall be sufficient to attract and retain Directors to run the Company and Group successfully. 
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During the financial year, the remuneration packages for the Managing Director and Executive Director were 
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board with the individual director 
affected not involved in the approval of their own packages; whilst the directors’ fees are recommended by 
the Board for approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Details of remuneration 

The details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Company during the financial year are disclosed under 
Note 22 on page 96 of this Report.

SeCTion 3: SHareHolDerS

Dialogue between Company and investors

Shareholders and investors are kept informed of all major developments within the Group by way of 
announcements via the Bursa Malaysia Link, the Company’s annual report, website and other circulars to 
shareholders. The principle forum for dialogue with shareholders is during the Annual General Meetings.

At each Annual General Meeting, the Board presents the progress and performance of the business and 
encourages shareholders to participate in a question and answer session. Directors are available to respond 
to shareholders’ questions during the meeting. Extraordinary General Meetings are held as and when required.

The Board has designated Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas as the 
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director to receive and deal with all shareholders’/public enquiries. Such 
enquiries must be made in writing and be directed to the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director as 
follows:-

Asian Pac Holdings Berhad
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas 
12th Floor, Menara SMI
No. 6, Lorong P. Ramlee
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel No: 03-20781207
Fax No: 03-20704818

corPorate governance stateMent
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SeCTion 4: aCCounTaBiliTY anD auDiT

Financial reporting

For financial reporting through quarterly reports to the Bursa Securities and the annual report to shareholders, 
the Directors have a responsibility to present a fair statement of the Group’s position and prospect. The 
Audit Committee assists the Board in reviewing information for disclosure to ensure accuracy, adequacy and 
completeness. The Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act 1965 is set out 
on page 37 of this Report.

Statement on Directors’ responsibility for preparing Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1965 to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
which have been made out in accordance with applicable financial reporting standards and give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company at the end of the financial year and of the results 
and cash flows of the Group and Company for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:
● Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
● Made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
● Ensured that all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and
● Prepared financial statements on the going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable 

expectation, having made enquiries, that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The Directors have the responsibility for ensuring that the Company keeps accounting records which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and Company and which enables them to 
ensure the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1965 and the Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Securities.

The Directors have overall responsibilities for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard 
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Such systems, by their nature, 
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss and fraud.

internal Control

Information on the Group’s Internal Control is presented in the Statement on Internal Control laid out on 
pages 29 to 31 of this Report.

relationship with auditors

The role of the Audit Committee in relation to external auditors may be found in the Audit Committee Report. 
The Company has always maintained a close and transparent relationship with its auditors in seeking 
professional advice and ensuring compliance with the accounting standards in Malaysia.

corPorate governance stateMent
(cont’d)
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aDDiTional CoMplianCe inForMaTion

Share Buybacks
The Company did not make any share buybacks during the financial year.

options, warrants or Convertible Securities exercised
There were no options exercised by the Eligible Employees during the financial year. 

Depository receipt programme
The Company did not sponsor any Depository Receipt Programme during the financial year.

Sanctions and/or penalties imposed
There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or 
management by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

non-audit Fee
There was a non-audit fee of RM7,000.00 paid to the External Auditors for reviewing the Statement on Internal 
Control for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

Variation in results
There were no variances of 10% or more between the audited results and the unaudited results announced 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

profit guarantee
There were no profit guarantees given by the Company during the financial year.

Material Contracts involving Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ interest
The Company and its subsidiaries did not enter into any material contracts which involved the interests of the 
Directors or substantial shareholders during the financial year.

This statement is reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors in the meeting held on 26 July 2012.

corPorate governance stateMent
(cont’d)
corPorate governance stateMent
(cont’d)



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 2 25

CoMpoSiTion oF THe auDiT CoMMiTTee 

The members of the Audit Committee during the financial year under review were:-

Chairman
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin  Independent Non-Executive Director
  Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas

Members
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri  Independent Non-Executive Director 
Ms Tan Siew Poh    Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

TerMS oF reFerenCe

1) Composition of audit Committee
 The Committee shall be appointed by the Directors from among its members which fulfils the following 

requirements:-

a) the Audit Committee must be composed of no fewer than 3 members;
b) all of the Audit Committee must be non-executive directors with a majority of them being 

independent directors; 
c) no alternate director of the Board shall be appointed as member of the Committee; and
d) at least one member of the Audit Committee:-

(i) must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or
(ii) if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least 3 

years’ working experience and:-

(aa) he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of the 
Accountants Act 1967; or

(bb) he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of 
the 1st Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

(cc) fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by the Exchange.

 The Committee shall elect a chairman from among its members who shall be an independent Director.

 In the event that a member of an Audit Committee resigns, dies or for any other reason ceases to be a 
member with the result that the number of members is reduced below three (3), the Board of Directors 
shall, within three (3) months of that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required 
to make up the minimum of three (3) members.

2) Meetings
 The Committee shall meet at least four times a year.

 The Chairman shall convene a meeting of the Committee if requested to do so by any member, 
the management or the internal or external auditors to consider any matter within the scope and 
responsibilities of the Committee.

3) Secretary to audit Committee
 The Company Secretary shall be the secretary of the Committee.

audit coMMittee rePort
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4) Quorum
 A quorum shall consist of a majority of members who are independent directors.

5) authority
 The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity within its terms of reference and 

shall have unrestricted access to both the internal and external auditors and to all employees of the 
Group. The Committee is also authorized by the Board to obtain external legal or other independent 
professional advice as necessary.

 The Committee is authorized to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or 
both excluding the attendance of other directors and employees of the Company whenever deemed 
necessary.

6) Duties and responsibilities
 The duties and responsibilities of the Committee shall be:-

i) To review the quarterly financial statements announcements to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
and annual financial statements prior to approval by the Board, focusing on:-

● going concern assumption;
● compliance with accounting standards and regulatory requirements;
● any changes in accounting policies and practices;
● significant issues arising from the audit; 
● significant and unusual events; and
● major judgemental areas.

ii) To review with the external auditors the following:-

● their audit plan;
● their evaluation of the system of internal controls;
● their audit report;
● problems and reservations arising from their interim and final audits; 
● the assistance given by the employees of the Company and the Group to the external 

auditors; and
● the audit fees and on matters concerning their suitability for nomination, appointment and 

re-appointment and the underlying reasons for resignation or dismissal as auditors.

iii) To review the internal audit functions on the following:- 

● adequacy and relevance of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal 
audit department and that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

● the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, 
processes or investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the 
recommendations of the internal audit function; and

● internal audit plan, consider the major findings of internal audit, fraud investigations and 
actions and steps taken by management in response to audit findings.

iv) To monitor related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the 
Company and Group including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises 
questions of management integrity.

audit coMMittee rePort
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v) To assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and accounting 
control procedures of the Company and the Group by reviewing the external auditors’ management 
letters and management response.

vi) To undertake such other responsibilities as may be agreed to by the Committee and the Board.

vii)   To report to the Board its activities, significant results and findings.

viii) To verify the allocation of options as being in compliance with the criteria for allocation pursuant 
to the By-Laws of Employees’ Share Option Scheme.

aTTenDanCe oF MeeTingS

The Audit Committee held five (5) meetings during the financial year. The following is the number of meetings 
attended by each member:-

name of Committee members number of meetings attended / held

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin Bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj 
Megat Khas

5/5

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri 5/5

Ms Tan Siew Poh 5/5

During the financial year, the Audit Committee actively participated in all discussions with senior management 
at meetings and ensured that the issues raised were properly addressed. The external auditors were invited 
to attend two (2) meetings during the financial year. 

SuMMarY oF aCTiViTieS

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the following activities were carried out by the 
Audit Committee during the financial year ended 31 March 2012 in discharge of its duties and responsibilities:-

i) Reviewed the internal audit charter and the adequacy and relevance of the scope, functions, resources, 
internal audit plan and results of the internal audit processes with the Internal Audit Department; and 
that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work.

ii) Reviewed with the external auditors, their audit plan (including system evaluations, audit fees, issues 
raised and management’s responses) prior to the commencement of the annual audit;

iii) Reviewed the unaudited quarterly results and annual audited financial statements with the management 
and made recommendations thereon to the Board for approval;

iv) Reviewed the financial statements, the audit report, issues arising from audits and the management 
letter with the external auditors; 

v) Reviewed the statement on internal control for publication in the Company’s annual report; 

vi) Reviewed the Internal Audit reports on finding and recommendations and management’s response 
thereto to ensure adequate remedial actions have been taken; and

vii) Reviewed and verified the auditors’ remuneration to ensure its adequateness and fairness.

audit coMMittee rePort
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STaTeMenT on SHare iSSuanCe SCHeMe (“eSoS”) BY THe CoMMiTTee

During the financial year under review, there was no allocation of option under ESOS of the Company. 

During the financial year, the ESOS was extended for another five (5) years until 12 April 2016 in accordance 
with the terms of the By-Laws of ESOS.

inTernal auDiT FunCTion/aCTiViTieS

The Internal Audit Department of the Group was established to assist the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee in discharging their duties and responsibilities. The Department undertakes its functions based on 
the annual internal audit plan that is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee, and it is committed to 
provide independence assurance on effectiveness and adequacy of the system of internal control.

A risk-based approach is adopted to prioritize the Department’s efforts to the critical business risk areas within 
the Group. These are designed to evaluate and enhance risk management, internal control and governance 
processes to assist management in achieving business objectives.

During the financial year, audit assignments covering financial, operational and compliance audits were 
carried out in accordance with the annual internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. The resulting 
reports of the audit undertaken were presented to the Audit Committee and forwarded to the management for 
attention and necessary actions. The Internal Audit Department set up a monitoring process to determine the 
extent to which its recommendation has been implemented and report to the Audit Committee on a quarterly 
basis.

The Company’s internal audit function is performed in-house. The total internal audit costs incurred for 
internal audit function were RM95,034 (RM76,031 in FYE 2011) during the financial year.

audit coMMittee rePort
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introduction

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance sets out as a principle that the Board of Directors (“Board”) of 
a listed company should maintain a sound system of internal control (“System”) to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and the assets of the Group. Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements 
requires the Board to include a statement in its annual report on the state of internal control of the listed issuer 
as a Group. The Board of Asian Pac Holdings Berhad (“the Company”) is pleased to provide the statement 
on the state of internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”).

Board of Directors’ responsibility

The Board is responsible for the Group’s System and for reviewing its adequacy and integrity as an effort to 
safeguard shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. The Board, through its various committees, has 
continuously reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the System in particular the financial, operational 
as well as compliance aspects of the Group throughout the financial year.

However, due to limitations that are inherent in any system of internal control, the Group’s System can 
only provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement and financial loss, rather than to eliminate 
entirely the risk of business failure.

risk Management

The Board has made risk assessment an on-going exercise to effectively manage and mitigate significant 
risks faced or likely to be faced by the Group. The senior management and staff from various levels are 
also involved in identifying, evaluating and managing risks in the course of carrying out their day to day 
work. The major Group’s risks are communicated, highlighted and brought to the Board’s attention and 
discussion. These processes are embedded within the Group’s overall business operations and guided by 
the documented policies and procedures.

internal Control Framework

The adequacy of the Group’s internal controls is based on the components of the Group’s Committee of 
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Internal Control Integrated Framework. It 
is a generally-accepted framework to provide reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and efficiencies of 
internal control system within the Group as indicated below:

i) internal Control environment

 Internal control environment comprises the integrity, ethical values and competence of the Management 
and staff. Key processes established are:

•	 An	organization	structure	exists	with	clearly	defined	lines	of	authority,	responsibility	and	appropriate	
levels of accountability;

•	 The	 Audit	 Committee	 comprises	 majority	 of	 independent	 non-executive	 directors.	 The	 Audit	
Committee members bring with them a wide range of different experience and knowledge. 
They meet both internal and external auditors during the financial year. Audit weaknesses are 
communicated to the Audit Committee to enable timely evaluation of the adequacy and integrity 
of the Group’s internal control system;

•	 The	 Tender	 Committee	 is	 established	 to	 ensure	 the	 transparency	 and	 integrity	 of	 the	 tender	
awards;

stateMent on internal control
financial year ended 31 March 2012
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•	 A	computerized	Human	Resources	Management	System	provides	a	comprehensive	employee	
database and an efficient system for managing human resource functions. Provided with conducive 
and safe environment, all employees are expected to be vigilant and efficient in their job functions. 
A standardized Performance Management System is adopted throughout the Group to effectively 
review and reward the employees based on their performance, hence effectively providing a 
platform for evaluating employees’ performances. 

ii) risk assessment

 Risk assessment involves the identification and analysis of relevant risks to achieve predetermined 
objectives of the Group. Key processes established are:

•	 Risk	assessment	is	adopted	by	the	Management	and	Group	Internal	Audit	to	identify,	evaluate	
and address the existing and potential significant risks within the Group;

•	 The	Management	 regularly	 reviews	 the	 risk	 profiles	 that	 ensure	 the	 adequacy	 of	 the	 internal	
controls are applied in relation to recognised significant risks.

iii) Control activities

 Control policies are the policies, procedures and practices that ensure the Management objectives are 
fulfilled. Key processes established are:

•	 Documented	policies	and	procedures	are	available	for	all	major	operations	of	the	Group.	These	
policies and procedures are formulated by various head of departments within the Group, and 
have been reviewed and endorsed by the Board prior to implementation by the Management. 
Updated policies and procedures will be presented and endorsed by the Board, before they are 
implemented;

•	 Discretionary	Authority	Limits	Document	summarizes	the	authority	and	authorisation	limits	for	the	
Management in relation to all business operations.

iV) information and Communications

 Information and Communications include systems that enable the Management to capture and exchange 
the information needed to conduct, manage and control operations. Key processes established are:

•	 The	Open	Door	Policy	is	practiced	to	ensure	communication	relating	to	business	issues	is	well	
received and effectively addressed across the Group;

•	 A	 timely	 and	 accurate	 automated	 information	 system	 enables	 business	 transactions	 to	 be	
captured, compiled and reported so as to provide the Management a reliable data analysis to 
fulfill business objectives.

stateMent on internal control
financial year ended 31 March 2012 (cont’d)
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stateMent on internal control
financial year ended 31 March 2012 (cont’d)

V) Monitoring

 Monitoring covers the periodic assessment and the application of continuous monitoring methodologies 
by the Management. Key processes established are:

•	 Based	on	agreed	objectives	and	strategies,	Business	Plans	and	Budgets	are	prepared	annually	
to set targets and action plans for the year and these are presented to the Board for approval. 
Major deviations from budgets are monitored, analysed and reported to the Board to ensure that 
objectives are met and irregularities are investigated, where necessary;

•	 Meetings	are	held	at	management	and	operational	levels	to	identify,	discuss	and	resolve	business	
and operational issues. These include regular management meetings and heads of department 
meetings which are recorded into minutes and held on a need basis. The Board is represented 
by the Managing Director who chairs the management and the head of department meetings. 
Significant issues would be drawn to attention, discussion and decision by the Board; and

•	 The	senior	management	is	actively	involved	in	the	day	to	day	business	operations	of	the	Group	
and conducts regular visits to the Group’s operating offices or sites. 

Conclusion

Based on the various internal control features currently available and / or to be incorporated into the Group’s 
key processes, the Board is confident that the Group’s operations are under control and significant risks 
faced by the Group are sufficiently addressed and managed.

The Board is aware that significant risks facing the Group changes with time and hence it strives to continuously 
review and improve the Group’s System so as to maintain an adequate level of internal control at all times.

This statement is reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors in the meeting dated 26 July 2012 and 
had been reviewed by the external auditors.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

prinCipal aCTiViTieS

The Company is principally involved in the holding of securities for investment purposes, provision of 
management services and trading of building materials. 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries and associate are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 8 to the financial 
statements respectively. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

reSulTS

 group  Company 
 rM’000  rM’000 

Profit/(loss) for the year  15,651  (2,304)

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent  15,702  (2,304)
Non-controlling interests  (51)  - 

 15,651  (2,304)

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as 
disclosed in the financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the 
financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual 
nature other than as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

DiViDenDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year. 

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the current financial year. 

DireCTorS

The directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas
Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri
Tan Siew Poh

directors’ rePort



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 234

DireCTorS’ BeneFiTS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to 
which the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the 
share options granted under the Employee Share Option Scheme as disclosed in Note 14 to the financial 
statements.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 
(other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the 
directors or the fixed salary of full time employees of the Company and related corporations as shown in Note 
22 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with 
any director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a 
substantial financial interest. 

DireCTorS’ inTereSTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the 
financial year in shares and options over shares in the Company during the financial year are as follows:

<---- number of ordinary shares of rM0.20 each ---->
1 april 31 March 

2011 acquired Sold 2012

Direct interest:
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin  

bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas 1,857,000 - - 1,857,000
Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang 32,850,985 - - 32,850,985
Tan Siew Poh 850,436 - - 850,436

indirect interest:
Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang 800,000 - - 800,000

number of options over
<---------- ordinary shares of rM0.20 each ---------->

1 april 31 March
2011 granted expired 2012 

Direct interest:
Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang 1,697,500 - (1,697,500) -
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri 2,100,000 - (2,100,000) -

eMploYee SHare opTion SCHeMe

At an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31 October 2005, shareholders approved the Employee Share 
Option Scheme (“ESOS”) for the granting of non-transferable options that are settled by physical delivery of 
the ordinary shares of the Company, to eligible employees. 

The committee administering the ESOS comprises 1 director, Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang.

directors’ rePort
(cont’d)
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directors’ rePort
(cont’d)

directors’ rePort
(cont’d)

eMploYee SHare opTion SCHeMe (ConT’D)

The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements. 

The tenure of the ESOS expired on 30 May 2011 and was extended for another 5 years to mature on 12 April 
2016. All options granted in prior years expired on 30 May 2011 and there were no options granted during 
the year.

oTHer STaTuTorY inForMaTion 

(a) Before the statements of financial position, income statements and statements of comprehensive 
income of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 
making of allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad 
debts and that adequate allowance for doubtful debts had been made; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the 
accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which 
they might be expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in respect 
of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; 
and

(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which 
would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of 
the Company misleading or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in 
this report or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount 
stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year.
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oTHer STaTuTorY inForMaTion (ConT’D)

(f) In the opinion of the directors:

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within 
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability 
of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between 
the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the 
results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report 
is made.

SigniFiCanT anD SuBSeQuenT eVenT

The significant and subsequent event is as disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

auDiTorS

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 26 July 2012.

 Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang
 bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas

directors’ rePort
(cont’d)
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stateMent by directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas and Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang, 
being two of the directors of Asian Pac Holdings Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, 
the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 40 to 111 are drawn up in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2012 and of their financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended.

The information set out in Note 37 on page 111 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 26 July 2012.

 Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang
 bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas

statutory declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, Liew Yin Yee, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Asian Pac Holdings 
Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 40 
to 111 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be 
true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the
abovenamed Liew Yin Yee at Kuala Lumpur
in the Federal Territory on 26 July 2012 Liew Yin Yee

Before me,
No: W432
Ramalingam S. Pillay. PPN
Commissioner of Oaths

directors’ rePort
(cont’d)



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 238

reporT on THe FinanCial STaTeMenTS

We have audited the financial statements of Asian Pac Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 31 March 2012 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements, 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the 
Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 40 to 111. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2012 and of their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended.

indePendent auditors’ rePort
to the members of asian Pac Holdings berhad
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indePendent auditors’ rePort
to the members of asian Pac Holdings berhad (cont’d)

reporT on oTHer legal anD regulaTorY reQuireMenTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by 
the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which 
we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 8 to the financial statements, being financial 
statements that have been included in the consolidated financial statements.

(c) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the 
financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information 
and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification 
and did not include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

oTHer MaTTerS

The supplementary information set out in Note 37 to the financial statements on page 111 is disclosed to 
meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of 
Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the 
directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in 
all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other 
person for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young Lee Seng Huat
AF: 0039 No. 2518/12/13(J)
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
26 July 2012
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group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

assets

non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 34,229 35,020 179 403
Land held for property development 4(a) 54,000 54,000 - -
Investment properties 5 217,949 178,311 - -
Intangible asset 6 23,174 23,942 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 7 - - 366,755 387,362
Investment in associate 8 114 - 114 -
Available-for-sale investments 9 9,321 12,971 1,644 2,281
Deferred tax assets 10 569 30 - -

339,356 304,274 368,692 390,046

Current assets
Property development costs 4(b) 163,187 186,938 - -
Inventories of completed properties 11 8,868 9,628 - -
Trade and other receivables 12 32,321 11,895 36,636 2,794
Prepayment 1,481 1,852 48 44
Tax recoverable 5,498 4,592 4,941 4,476
Cash and bank balances 13 176,870 21,551 2,579 4,248

388,225 236,456 44,204 11,562

Total assets 727,581 540,730 412,896 401,608

equity and liabilities 

equity attributable to owners 
of the parent

Share capital 14 195,063 195,063 195,063 195,063
Share premium 2,206 2,206 2,206 2,206
Other reserves 15 757 4,562 77,954 79,688
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 125,725 108,895 (745) 431

323,751 310,726 274,478 277,388
non-controlling interests (51) - - -
Total equity 323,700 310,726 274,478 277,388

stateMents of financial Position 
as at 31 March 2012
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stateMents of financial Position 
as at 31 March 2012 (cont’d)

group Company
note  2012  2011 2012 2011 

 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 10  84,074  97,857  11  - 
Loans and borrowings 16  265,690  72,077  -  41 

 349,764  169,934  11  41 

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 16  1,834  15,231  41  96 
Trade and other payables 17  49,490  44,204  138,366  124,083 
Tax payable  2,793  635  -  - 

 54,117  60,070  138,407  124,179 
Total liabilities  403,881  230,004  138,418  124,220 

Total equity and liabilities  727,581  540,730  412,896  401,608 

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 242

group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 18 88,610 36,453 10,546 12,364
Cost of sales 19 (57,645) (15,089) (1,854) -
Gross profit 30,965 21,364 8,692 12,364
Other income 20 4,880 3,075 5,619 3,659
Employee benefits expense 21 (7,165) (6,098) (1,870) (1,373)
Depreciation (2,395) (1,939) (238) (151)
Other expenses (16,196) (6,075) (12,782) (3,906)
Profit/(loss) from operations 10,089 10,327 (579) 10,593
Finance costs 23 (2,053) (2,259) (4) (7)
Share of results of associate (250) - (250) -
Profit/(loss) before tax from  

continuing operations 24 7,786 8,068 (833) 10,586
Income tax expense 25 7,888 3,214 (1,471) 1,097
Profit/(loss) after tax from  

continuing operations 15,674 11,282 (2,304) 11,683

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations,  
net of tax 26 (23) - - -

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year 15,651 11,282 (2,304) 11,683

attributable to:

Owners of the parent 15,702 11,285 (2,304) 11,683
Non-controlling interests (51) (3) - -

15,651 11,282 (2,304) 11,683

earnings per share attributable to 
owners of the parent (sen per share):

Basic 27 1.6 1.2

incoMe stateMents
for the year ended 31 March 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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incoMe stateMents
for the year ended 31 March 2012

stateMents of coMPreHensive incoMe 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 15,651 11,282 (2,304) 11,683

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Fair value (loss)/gain on available-for-sale 

financial assets (2,629) 3,434 (558) 560
Foreign currency translation (48) - (48) -
Excess of book value and purchase 

consideration on acquisition of non-
controlling interest - 150 - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 12,974 14,866 (2,910) 12,243

attributable to:

Owners of the parent 13,025 14,869 (2,910) 12,243
Non-controlling interests (51) (3) - -

12,974 14,866 (2,910) 12,243
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<------------ attributable to owners of the parent -------->
<------ non-distributable ------> Distributable  non- 

Share Share other retained controling Total
capital premium reserves earnings Total interests equity

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

group

at 31 March 2012

At 1 April 2011 195,063 2,206 4,562 108,895 310,726 - 310,726
Total comprehensive 

(loss)/income - - (2,677) 15,702 13,025 (51) 12,974
Expiry of employee 

share options - - (1,128) 1,128 - - -
At 31 March 2012 195,063 2,206 757 125,725 323,751 (51) 323,700

at 31 March 2011

At 1 April 2010 195,063 2,206 1,128 97,452 295,849 158 296,007
Effects of adopting 

FRS 139 - - - 8 8 - 8
Acquisition of non-

controlling interests - - - - - (155) (155)
Total comprehensive 

income - - 3,434 11,435 14,869 (3) 14,866
At 31 March 2011 195,063 2,206 4,562 108,895 310,726 - 310,726

stateMents of cHanges in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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stateMents of cHanges in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (cont’d)

retained 
<----------- non-distributable ------------> earnings/ 

Share Share other (accumulated Total
capital premium reserves losses) equity

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Company

at 31 March 2012

At 1 April 2011 195,063 2,206 79,688 431 277,388
Total comprehensive loss - - (606) (2,304) (2,910)
Expiry of employee share 

options - - (1,128) 1,128 -
At 31 March 2012 195,063 2,206 77,954 (745) 274,478

at 31 March 2011

At 1 April 2010 195,063 2,206 79,128 (11,260) 265,137
Effects of adopting FRS 139 - - - 8 8
Total comprehensive income - - 560 11,683 12,243
At 31 March 2011 195,063 2,206 79,688 431 277,388

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax from  

continuing operations 7,786 8,068 (833) 10,586
Loss before tax from discontinued 

operations (23) - - -
Profit before tax, total 7,763 8,068 (833) 10,586
Adjustments for:

Bad debts recovered 20 (52) (55) - -
Depreciation 24 2,395 1,939 238 151
Property, plant and equipment written off 24 10 1 1 -
Impairment on:

- quoted investments 24 243 - 79 -
- investment properties 24 - 1,975 - -
- investment in subsidiaries 24 - - 9,281 3,330
- intangible asset 24 768 - - -
- other receivables 24 5,789 - 91 -
- property development cost 24 200 - - -

Gain on disposal of quoted investments 20 (159) (513) - -
Net loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment  20,24 26 32 - -
Net loss on disposal of subsidiary 

companies 20,24 2,421 - 2,445 -
Reversal of impairment loss on:

- other receivables 20 - (754) - -
- property, plant and equipment 20 (63) - - -
- investment property 20 (306) - - -
- investment in subsidiaries 20 - - (5,619) (3,657)

Share of results of associate 250 - 250 -
Interest expense 2,053 2,259 4 7
Interest income 18,20 (3,653) (651) (237) (139)
Dividend income 18 (182) (208) (7,700) (11,550)

Operating profit/(loss) before working 
capital changes 17,503 12,093 (2,000) (1,272)

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in property 

development costs 23,551 (6,323) - -
Increase in receivables (8,168) (2,343) (2,167) (78)
Decrease in inventories 180 1,740 - -
Increase/(decrease) in payables 5,287 (6,109) 34 (67)
Changes in subsidiaries balances - - (3,062) (9,767)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 38,353 (942) (7,195) (11,184)
Interest received 241 135 241 135
Dividend received - - 7,700 11,550
Taxes paid (5,182) (4,479) (1,925) (2,888)

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities 33,412 (5,286) (1,179) (2,387)

stateMents of casH flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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stateMents of casH flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (cont’d)

group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 3,352 457 - -
Dividend received 182 208 - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - (5) - -
Proceeds from disposal of property,  

plant and equipment 176 571 - -
Proceeds from disposal of quoted 

investments 937 2,392 - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (636) (12,398) (15) (7)
Purchase of investment properties (61,240) - - -
Purchase of associate (375) - (375) -
Increase in investment in subsidiary - - - (980)
Net cash used in investing activities (57,604) (8,775) (390) (987)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of hire purchase payables (323) (270) (96) (92)
Drawdown of loan 212,000 76,676 - -
Repayment of term loan (30,113) (79,890) - -
Interest paid (2,053) (2,259) (4) (7)
Net cash generated from/(used in) 

financing activities 179,511 (5,743) (100) (99)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash  
and bank balances 155,319 (19,804) (1,669) (3,473)

Cash and bank balances at beginning 
of year 21,551 41,355 4,248 7,721

Cash and bank balances at end of year 13 176,870 21,551 2,579 4,248

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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notes to tHe financial stateMents
31 March 2012

1. CorporaTe inForMaTion

 The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed 
on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office of the Company is 
located at 12th Floor, Menara SMI, No 6, Lorong P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur and the principal 
place of business of the Company is located at 106, Block G, Pusat Dagangan Phileo Damansara 1, No 
9, Jalan 16/11, Off Jalan Damansara, 46350 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan.

 The Company is principally involved in the holding of securities for investment purposes, provision of 
management services and trading of building materials. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 7.

 There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors on 26 July 2012.

2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

 At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted new and 
revised FRSs which are mandatory for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 as 
described fully in Note 2.2.

 The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except as disclosed 
in the significant accounting policies in Note 2.4.

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand (“RM’000”) except when otherwise indicated. 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 
as follows:

 On 1 April 2011, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended FRS and 
IC Interpretations mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
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notes to tHe financial stateMents
31 March 2012

2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

FRS 1: First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards
FRS 3: Business Combinations (revised)
Amendments to FRS 2: Share-based Payment
Amendments to FRS 5: Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Amendments to FRS 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to FRS 138: Intangible Assets
Amendments to IC Interpretation 9: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IC Interpretation 12: Service Concession Arrangements 
IC Interpretation 16 :Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
IC Interpretation 17: Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
Amendments to FRS 132: Classification of Rights Issues
Improvements to FRS 2010
Amendments to FRS 1: Limited Exemptions from Comparative FRS 7 Disclosures for First-time 
   Adopters
Amendments to FRS 2: Share-based Payment - Group cash-settled Share based Payment 
   Transactions
Amendments to FRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
IC Interpretation 4: Determining Whether An Arrangement contains a Lease
IC Interpretation 18: Transfers of Assets from Customers

 The adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any significant impact 
on the financial performance or position of the Group and of the Company except for those 
discussed below:

(a) Revised FRS 3 Business Combinations and Amendments to FRS 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements

 The revised FRS 3 introduces a number of changes in accounting for business combinations 
occuring after 1 July 2010. These changes impact the amout of goodwill recognised, the 
reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported results.

 The revised FRS 3 continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations 
but with some significant changes. All payments to purchase a business are recorded at 
fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently 
measured through the statement of comprehensive income. There is a choice on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
net assets. All acquisitions-related costs are expensed.

 Under the revised FRS 127, minority interest is referred to as non-controlling interest. The 
amendments to FRS 127 require that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary 
(without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such 
transactions will no longer give rise to a change in goodwill, nor will they give rise to a gain 
or loss. Further, losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even 
if that results in a deficit balance.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Amendments to FRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

 The amended standard requires enhanced disclosure about fair value measurement and 
liquidity risk. Fair value measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be 
disclosed by source of inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy (Level 1, Level 2 and 
Level 3), by class, for all financial instruments recognised at fair value. A reconciliation 
between the beginning and ending balance for Level 3 fair value measurements are 
required. Any significant transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy and the reasons 
for those transfers need to be disclosed. The amendments also clarify the requirements 
for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and assets used for 
liquidity management. The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in Note 33. 
The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by the amendments and are 
presented in Note 34(b).

2.3 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

 The Group and the Company have not adopted the following standards and interpretations that 
have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

effective for
 financial
 periods

beginning 
on or after

IC Interpretations 19: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 1 July 2011
Amendments to IC Interpretation 14: Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 

Requirement 1 July 2011
Amendments to FRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for 

First-time Adopters 1 Jan 2012
Amendments to FRS 7: Transfers of Financial Assets 1 Jan 2012
Amendments to FRS 112: Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 Jan 2012
FRS 124: Related Party Disclosures 1 Jan 2012
Amendments to FRS 101: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 

Income 1 Jul 2012
FRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2013
FRS 11: Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2013
FRS 12: Disclosure of interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2013
FRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013
FRS 119: Employee Benefits 1 Jan 2013
FRS 127: Separate Financial Statements 1 Jan 2013
FRS 128: Investments in Associate and Joint Ventures 1 Jan 2013
IC Interpretations 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 1 Jan 2013
Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

Liabilities 1 Jan 2013
Amendments to FRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 1 Jan 2014
FRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2015

 The directors expect that the adoption of the standards and interpretations above will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. 
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.3 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

 Malaysian Financial reporting Standards (MFrS Framework)

 On 19 November 2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) issued a new 
MASB approved accounting framework, the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS 
Framework).

 The MFRS Framework is to be applied by all Entities Other Than Private Entities for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012, with the exception of entities that are within the scope of 
MFRS 141 Agriculture (MFRS 141) and IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for Construction of Real 
Estate (IC 15), including its parent, significant investor and venturer (herein called ‘Transitioning 
Entities’).

 Transitioning Entities will be allowed to defer adoption of the new MFRS Framework for an 
additional one year. Consequently, adoption of the MFRS Framework by Transitioning Entities will 
be mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

 On 4 July 2012, MASB has decided to allow the Transitioning Entities to defer the adoption of 
the MFRS Framework for another year. MFRS Framework will therefore be mandated for all 
companies for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

 The Group falls within the scope definition of Transitioning Entities and have opted to defer 
adoption of the new MFRS Framework. Accordingly, the Group will be required to prepare financial 
statements using the MFRS Framework in its first MFRS financial statements for the year ending 
31 March 2015. In presenting its first MFRS financial statements, the Group will be required 
to restate the comparative financial statements to amounts reflecting the application of MFRS 
Framework. The majority of the adjustments required on transition will be made, retrospectively, 
against opening retained profits. 

 The Group has established a project team to plan and manage the adoption of the MFRS 
Framework. 

 The Group has not completed its assessment of the financial effects of the differences between 
Financial Reporting Standards and accounting standards under the MFRS Framework. 
Accordingly, the consolidated financial performance and financial position as disclosed in these 
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 could be different if prepared under the 
MFRS Framework. 

 The Group considers that it is achieving its scheduled milestones and expects to be in a position 
to fully comply with the requirements of the MFRS Framework for the financial year ending 31 
March 2015.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Subsidiaries 

 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted 
for at cost less impairment losses. 
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the 
same reporting date as the Company.  Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 

 Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the 
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 
ceases. 

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method except for a 
subsidiary which met the criteria for merger accounting in the financial year ended 31 March 
1996 under the Malaysian Accounting Standards (“MAS”) No. 2, Accounting for Mergers, 
and is accounted for using merger accounting principles. Under the transitional provisions 
of FRS 3, the Group continues to apply merger accounting applicable for that subsidiary as 
the agreement date is before 1 January 2006.

 Where merger accounting principles are used, the cost of investment in the Company’s 
records are recorded at the nominal value of shares issued and the difference between the 
carrying value of the investment and the nominal value of shares acquired is treated as a 
merger reserve, a non distributable reserve, or merger deficit. Merger deficits are adjusted 
against the income statement in the year of merger. The results of the companies being 
merged are included as if the merger had been effected throughout the current and previous 
financial years. 

 Where the purchase method of accounting are used, identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date. Adjustments to those fair values relating to 
previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The cost of a business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, 
at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.

 Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of 
the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded 
as goodwill on the statement of financial position. Any excess of the Group’s share in the net 
fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of  business combination is recognised as income in income statement on the 
date of acquisition.

 When the Group acquires a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host 
contract by the acquiree are reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination 
results in a change in terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that 
would otherwise be required under the contract.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(c) Transactions with non-controlling interests

 Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries 
not held by the Group and are presented seperately in the income statement of the Group 
and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial position, separately from the 
parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for 
using the entity concept method, whereby, transactions with non-controlling interests are 
accounted for as transactions with owners. On acquisition of a non-controlling interest, the 
difference between the consideration and book value of the share of net assets acquired 
is recognised directly in equity. Gain or loss on disposal to non-controlling interests is 
recognised directly in equity. 

(d) intangible assets

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess 
of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill 
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but 
instead, it is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

(e) associate

 An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has 
significant influence. An associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains 
significant influence until the date the Group ceases to have significant influence over the 
associate.

 The Group’s investment in associate is accounted for using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, the investment in associate is measured in the statement of financial position 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. 
Goodwill relating to associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities, 
and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying 
amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of the 
Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss for the period in which the investment is 
acquired.

 When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e) associate (cont’d)

 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The 
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount 
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its 
carrying amount and recognises the amount in income statement.

 The financial statements of the associate are prepared as of the same reporting date as the 
Company. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are stated at 
cost less impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net 
disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in income statement.

(f) property, plant and equipment, and depreciation

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 Certain long term leasehold land and building have not been revalued since they were first 
revalued in 1992. The directors have not adopted a policy of regular valuations of such 
assets. As permitted under the transitional provisions of International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) No. 16 (Revised): Property, Plant and Equipment adopted by the Malaysian Accounting 
Standards Board (“MASB”), the long term leasehold land and building is stated at their 1992 
valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to 
write off the cost or valuation of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful 
life, at the following annual rates:

Long term leasehold land Over leasehold period
Long term leasehold land and building 2%
Long term leasehold buildings 2%
Motor vehicles 20%
Office furniture and equipment 20%
Plant and machinery 20%
Renovation 20%
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(f) property, plant and equipment, and depreciation (cont’d)

 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial 
year-end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent 
with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net 
disposal proceeds, if any and the net carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.

(g) investment properties

 Investment properties comprise properties and properties under construction which are 
held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Such properties 
are initially measured at cost (including transaction costs but excluding the costs of day-
to-day servicing). Subsequent to initial recognition, completed investment properties are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses 
while investment properties under construction are stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

 Leasehold properties are depreciated over its lease period on a straight line basis. 
Depreciation is not provided on investment property under construction. Investment property 
under construction have not been revalued since it was first revalued in 1996. The directors 
have not adopted a policy of regular revaluations of such property. As permitted under 
the transitional provisions of International Accounting Standards (IAS) No. 16 (Revised): 
Property, Plant and Equipment adopted by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(“MASB”), the investment property under construction continue to be stated at its 1996 
valuation less accumulated impairment losses.

 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when 
they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from 
its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are 
recognised in the income statement in the year in which they arise.

(h) land held for property development and property development costs

(i) land held for property development 

 Land held for property development consists of land where no development activities 
have been carried out or where development activities are not expected to be 
completed within the normal operating cycle. Such land is classified within non-current 
assets and is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 Land held for property development is reclassified as property development costs 
at the point when development activities have commenced and where it can be 
demonstrated that the development activities can be completed within the normal 
operating cycle.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(h) land held for property development and property development costs (cont’d)

(ii) property development costs

 Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to 
development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. 
Costs consists of land and development expenditure. Development expenditure 
includes borrowing costs relating to the financing of the land and development.

 When the financial outcome of a development activity can be reliably estimated, 
property development revenue and expenses are recognised in the income statement 
by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by 
the proportion that property development costs incurred for work performed to date 
bear to the estimated total property development costs.

 Where the financial outcome of a development activity cannot be reliably estimated, 
property development revenue is recognised only to the extent of property development 
costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable, and property development costs 
on properties sold are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

 Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the 
defects liability period, is recognised as an expense immediately.

 Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as an 
asset, which is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 The excess of revenue recognised in the income statement over billings to purchasers 
is classified as accrued billings within trade receivables and the excess of billings to 
purchasers over revenue recognised in the income statement is classified as progress 
billings within trade payables.

(i) impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication 
that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment 
assessment for an asset is required, the Group and the Company make an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flow (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the 
asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of 
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those 
units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

 Impairment losses are recognised in income statement except for assets that are previously 
revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the 
impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation.

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. 
Such reversal is recognised in income statement unless the asset is measured at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

(j) Financial assets

(a) Classification

 The Group and the Company classify their financial assets in the following categories: 
loans and receivables and available-for-sale investments. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets were required. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) loans and receivables

 Loan and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting date. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s and the 
Company’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and 
‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statements of financial position.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(j) Financial assets (cont’d)

(a) Classification (cont’d)

(ii) available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either in this 
category or are not classified in the preceeding category. They are included in 
non-current assets unless the management intends to dispose of it within 12 
months of the end of the reporting period.

(b) recognition and measurement

 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date - the 
date on which the Group and the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in income statement when loans 
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. 
Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses are recognised in income 
statement . The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to income statement as a reclassification adjustment 
when the financial asset is sold or derecognised. 

 Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in income statement 
when the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

 Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in income 
statement. 

(c) Derecognition

 The Group and the Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the assets expired or when the Group and the Company 
have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 
another entity. 

 On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative 
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity is recognised in income statement.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k) impairment of financial assets

 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

(i) Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised costs

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
assets has been incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the 
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default 
or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as 
trade receivables, receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are 
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk 
characteristics.  Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could 
include the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an 
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate 
with default on receivables.

 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
impairment loss is recognised in income statement.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly 
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable 
becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal 
date. The amount of reversal is recognised in income statement. 

(ii) assets classified as available-for-sale

 Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties 
of the issuer or obligator and the disappearance of an active trading market are 
considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment 
securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are impaired.

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference 
between its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current 
fair value less any impairment loss previously recognised in income statement, is 
transferred from equity to income statement.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(k) impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(ii) assets classified as available-for-sale (cont’d)

 Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in income 
statement in the subsequent periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to 
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(l) inventories of completed properties

 Inventories of completed properties are stated at lower of cost (determined on the specific 
identification basis) and net realisable value. Cost includes costs associated with the 
acquisition of land, direct cost and appropriate proportions of common costs.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank balances, demand deposits and 
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(n) Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability.

 Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statements of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.

 The Group and the Company classify all their financial liabilities as other financial liabilities 
which include trade payables, other payables and loans and borrowings.

 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n) Financial liabilities (cont’d)

 For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in income statement when the 
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in income statement.

(o) provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
reliably measured.

 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

(p) leases

(a) as a lessee

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease 
at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Finance charges are charged to income statement. Contingent rents, if 
any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if 
there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the 
lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and 
the lease term.

 Total operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in income statement on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided 
by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. 
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p) leases (cont’d)

(b) as a lessor

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. The accounting policy for 
rental income is set out in Note 2.4(u)(v). 

(q) Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use 
or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing 
costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use. 

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they 
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the 
Company incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

(r) income taxes

(i) Current tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 Current taxes are recognised in income statement except to the extent that the tax 
relates to items recognised outside income statement, either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. 

(ii) Deferred tax

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(r) income taxes (cont’d)

(ii) Deferred tax (cont’d)

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised 
except: 

- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised. 

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
assets to be utilised.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside income statement is recognised 
outside income statement. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and 
deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 
acquisition. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s) employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

 The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the 
country in which it has operations. The Group makes contributions to the Employees 
Provident Fund in Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to 
the defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related service is performed.

(ii) Share-based compensation

 The Asian Pac Holdings Berhad’s Employee Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”), an 
equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, allows the Group’s employees to 
acquire ordinary shares of the Company. The total fair value of share options granted 
to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the 
share option reserve within equity over the vesting period and taking into account the 
probability that the options will vest. The fair value of share options is measured at 
grant date, taking into account, if any, the market vesting conditions upon which the 
options were granted but excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. 
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to become exercisable on vesting date. 

 At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that 
are expected to become exercisable on vesting date. It recognises the impact of the 
revision in original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding 
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period. The equity amount is 
recognised in the share option reserve until the option is exercised, upon which it will 
be transferred to share premium, or until the options expires, upon which it will be 
transferred directly to retained earnings. 

 The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited 
to equity when the options are exercised.

(t) Foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

 The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit 
Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the Company’s functional currency. 
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(t) Foreign currencies (cont’d)

(ii) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies 
of the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the 
functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction 
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, or on the translation 
of monetary items, are included in the income statement except for exchange 
differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in 
foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency 
translation reserve is reclassified from equity to income statement of the Group on 
disposal of foreign operation.

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair 
value are included in the income statement for the period except for the differences 
arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses 
are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary 
items are also recognised directly in equity. 

(iii) Foreign operations

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date and income and expense are translated at 
exchange rates at the dates of transactions. The exchange differences arising on 
the translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive income 
are accumulated in equity under foreign currency translation reserve relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in income statement.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the 
functional currency of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the 
reporting date.

(u) revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(u) revenue recognition (cont’d)

(i) Sale of properties

 Revenue from sale of properties is accounted for by the stage of completion method 
as described in Note 2.4(h)(ii).

(ii) Sale of building materials

 Revenue from sale of building materials is recognised net of discounts upon the transfer 
of significant risks and rewards to the buyer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent 
where there are significant uncertainties regarding the recovery of the consideration 
due, associated costs or the possible return of goods. 

(iii) Carpark operations

 Revenue from carpark operations is recognised as and when the services are rendered.

(iv) interest income

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(v) rental income

 Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The 
aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of 
rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

(vi) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

(vii) Management fees

 Management fees are recognised when these services are rendered. 

2.5 Changes in estimates

 FRS 116: Property, plant and equipment requires the review of the residual value and remaining 
useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment at least at each financial year end. The 
Group revised the residual values and the estimated useful lifes of certain motor vehicle with effect 
from 1 April 2011. The revisions were accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting 
estimates and as a result, the depreciation charges of the Group for the current financial have 
been increased by RM728,000.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.6 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

(a) judgements made in applying accounting policies

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires the management to make 
judgements, estimates, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting 
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that could require a material judgement to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in the future.

(i) Classification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment

 The Group has developed certain criteria based on FRS 140 in making judgement 
whether a property qualifies as an investment property. Investment property is a 
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.

 Investment properties principally comprise freehold and leasehold properties and 
properties under construction held by the Group for their investment potential and are 
not occupied by the Group.

(ii) operating lease commitments - group as lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on one long term leasehold 
land, as further disclosed in Note 28. The Group has determined that it retains all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of this property which are deemed to be 
leased out on operating leases.

(iii) allowance for bad and doubtful debts

 The policy for allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the Group is based on 
management’s judgement and the evaluation of collectibility and ageing analysis 
of the receivables inclusive of retention sum and advances to sub-contractors. A 
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation 
of these receivables, including the current credit-worthiness and the past collection 
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to 
deteriorate, additional allowances may be required.
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2. SigniFiCanT aCCounTing poliCieS (ConT’D)

2.6 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(b) key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) impairment of goodwill

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. 
This requires an estimation of the fair value less costs to sell of a piece of long term 
leasehold land to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the fair value less costs 
to sell requires the Group to determine the value in use calculations using cash flow 
projections on the property to be built on the long term leasehold land. The carrying 
amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2012 was RM23,174,000 (2011: RM23,942,000). 
Further details are disclosed in Note 6.

(ii) property development

 The Group recognises property development revenue and expenses in the income 
statement by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is 
determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work 
performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

 Significant judgements is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent 
of the property development costs incurred, the estimated total property development 
revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the development projects. In making 
the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on the 
work of specialists. Details of property development costs are disclosed in Note 4(b).

(iii) Deferred tax 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital 
allowances to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which the losses and capital allowances can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. The total carrying value of unrecognised tax losses 
and capital allowances of the Group and of the Company are RM2,869,000 (2011: 
RM3,719,000) and Nil (2011: RM510,000) respectively.

(iv) income tax

 Significant estimation is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There 
are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for 
expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. Details of the income tax expense are 
disclosed in Note 25.
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3. properTY, planT anD eQuipMenT

 at valuation  <--------------------- at cost ---------------------> 
Motor vehicles, 

 long term office furniture, 
 leasehold  long term  long term equipment, 
 land and  leasehold  leasehold plant, machinery 
 building  buildings  land and renovation  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 rM’000  rM’000 

group

at 31 March 2012

at valuation/cost

At 1 April 2011  370  26,345  7,868  8,901  43,484 
Additions  -  -  -  1,265  1,265 
Disposals  -  -  -  (472)  (472)
Write off  -  -  -  (196)  (196)
At 31 March 2012  370  26,345  7,868  9,498  44,081 

accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

At 1 April 2011
Accumulated 

depreciation  148  1,444  262  6,547  8,401 
Accumulated 

impairment losses  -  63  -  -  63 
Depreciation charge 

for the year  7  491  100  1,309  1,907 
Disposals  -  -  -  (270)  (270)
Write off  -  -  -  (186)  (186)
Reversal of impairment 

loss (Note 20)  -  (63)  -  -  (63)
At 31 March 2012
Analysed as:

Accumulated 
depreciation  155  1,935  362  7,400  9,852 

Accumulated 
impairment losses  -  -  -  -  - 

 155  1,935  362  7,400  9,852 

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2012  215  24,410  7,506  2,098  34,229 
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3. properTY, planT anD eQuipMenT (ConT’D)

<---- at valuation ----> <-------------- at cost --------------> 

 Capital 
 work-in- 
 progress 

 long term 
 leasehold 
 land and 
 building 

 long term 
 leasehold 
 buildings 

 long term 
 leasehold 

 land 

Motor
vehicles,

office 
furniture,

equipment,
plant,

machinery  
and 

renovation  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group (cont’d)

at 31 March 2011

at valuation/cost

At 1 April 2010  111,174  370  22,127  5,580  8,094  147,345 
Additions  11,908  -  -  -  939  12,847 
Disposals  -  -  (633)  -  (174)  (807)
Write off  -  -  -  -  (34)  (34)
Reclassification  (7,215)  -  4,851  2,288  76  - 
Transfer to investment 

property under 
construction (Note 5)  (115,867)  -  -  -  -  (115,867)

At 31 March 2011  -  370  26,345  7,868  8,901  43,484 
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3. properTY, planT anD eQuipMenT (ConT’D)

<---- at valuation ----> <-------------- at cost --------------> 

 Capital 
 work-in- 
 progress 

 long term 
 leasehold 
 land and 
 building 

 long term 
 leasehold 
 buildings 

 long term 
 leasehold 

 land 

Motor
vehicles,

office 
furniture,

equipment,
plant,

machinery  
and 

renovation  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group (cont’d)

at 31 March 2011

accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

At 1 April 2010
Accumulated 

depreciation  -  141  1,079  156  5,777  7,153 
Accumulated 

impairment losses  7,275  -  72  -  -  7,347 
Depreciation charge for 

the year  -  7  490  106  873  1,476 
Disposals  -  -  (134)  -  (70)  (204)
Write off  -  -  -  -  (33)  (33)
Transfer to investment 

property under 
construction (Note 5)  (7,275)  -  -  -  -  (7,275)

At 31 March 2011
Analysed as:

Accumulated 
depreciation  -  148  1,444  262  6,547  8,401 

Accumulated 
impairment losses  -  -  63  -  -  63 

 -  148  1,507  262  6,547  8,464 

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2011  -  222  24,838  7,606  2,354  35,020 
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3. properTY, planT anD eQuipMenT (ConT’D)

office
Capital furniture

work-in- Motor and
progress vehicles equipment Total

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Company

at 31 March 2012

Cost

At 1 April 2011 - 1,081 254 1,335
Addition - - 15 15
Write off - - (7) (7)
At 31 March 2012 - 1,081 262 1,343

accumulated depreciation 
 
At 1 April 2011 - 751 181 932
Depreciation charge for the year - 216 22 238
Write off - - (6) (6)
At 31 March 2012 - 967 197 1,164

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2012 - 114 65 179

at 31 March 2011

Cost

At 1 April 2010 76 1,081 185 1,342
Addition - - 7 7
Write off - - (14) (14)
Reclassification (76) - 76 -
At 31 March 2011 - 1,081 254 1,335

accumulated depreciation 
 
At 1 April 2010 - 621 174 795
Depreciation charge for the year - 130 21 151
Write off - - (14) (14)
At 31 March 2011 - 751 181 932

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2011 - 330 73 403
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3. properTY, planT anD eQuipMenT (ConT’D)

(a) long term leasehold building of the group, stated at valuation

 The long term leasehold building of the Group was revalued in 1992 based on professional 
valuations conducted on the basis of open market value. 

 The property has not been revalued since it was first revalued in 1992. The directors have 
not adopted a policy of regular valuations of such assets. As permitted under the transitional 
provisions of International Accounting Standards (IAS) No. 16 (Revised): Property, Plant and 
Equipment adopted by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, the property is stated at its 
1992 valuation as its surrogate cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

 Had the revalued long term leasehold building been carried at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation, the net carrying amount as at 31 March 2012 would have been RM256,000 (2011: 
RM268,000).

(b) long term leasehold building of the group, stated at cost

 There is a reversal of impairment of RM63,000 (2011: Nil) due to increase in value in use and 
market value of the certain leasehold building stated at cost. Value in use calculations is based on 
cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering the remaining 
lease period. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the expected cash flows to be generated to the 
present value is 6.6%. Market value was determined having regard to recent market transactions 
for similar properties in the same location as the Group’s long term leasehold building.

(c) Fully depreciated assets

 Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are the costs of fully 
depreciated assets which are still in use are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Motor vehicles 789 314 - -
Office furniture and equipment 2,025 2,150 164 157
Renovation 681 664 - -

3,495 3,128 164 157

(d) assets held under hire purchase arrangements

 During the current financial year, the Group and Company acquired property, plant and equipment 
at aggregate costs of RM1,265,000 (2011: RM12,847,000) and RM15,000 (2011: RM7,000) 
respectively of which assets costing RM788,000 (2011: RM449,000) of the Group were acquired 
by means of hire purchase arrangements. Net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment 
held under hire purchase arrangements are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Motor vehicles  1,084  856  74  195 
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4. lanD HelD For properTY DeVelopMenT anD properTY DeVelopMenT CoSTS

(a) land held for property development

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

long term leasehold land

Cost and carrying amount
At the beginning/end of year 54,000 54,000

(b) property development costs

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Cumulative property development costs

At 1 April 2011/2010:
   Freehold land 96,967 136,962
   Long term leasehold land 56,961 62,314
   Development costs 33,010 84,184

186,938 283,460

Costs incurred during the year:
   Freehold land 1,046 1,389
   Long term leasehold land 120 421
   Development costs 30,244 16,402

31,410 18,212

Transfers:
   To income statement (219) -
   Impairment loss recognised in income statement (Note 24) (200) -
   To investment properties (Note 5) - (8,811)

(419) (8,811)

Reversal of completed projects:
   Freehold land (26,379) (41,384)
   Development costs (4,086) (64,539)

(30,465) (105,923)

At 31 March 2012/2011 187,464 186,938
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4. lanD HelD For properTY DeVelopMenT anD properTY DeVelopMenT CoSTS (ConT’D)

(b) property development costs (cont’d)

 Cumulative costs recognised in income statement

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

At 1 April 2011/2010 - (94,035)
Recognised during the year (Note 19) (54,742) (11,889)
Reversal of completed projects 30,465 105,924
At 31 March 2012/2011 (24,277) -

property development costs at 31 March 2012/2011 163,187 186,938

 Certain long term leasehold land were revalued in 1996 based on professional valuations 
conducted on the basis of open market value.

 These properties have not been revalued since they were first revalued in 1996. The directors 
have not adopted a policy of regular valuations of such assets. As permitted under the transitional 
provisions of Financial Reporting Standard 201: Property Development Activities adopted by the 
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, where an entity has carried its land held for property 
development at revalued amount as allowed under MASB Approved Accounting Standard MAS 
7: Accounting for Property Development prior to 1 January 2004, the entity shall continue to retain 
the revalued amount of the land as its surrogate cost.

 Included in property development costs incurred during the financial year are interest expense 
capitalised of RM1,116,000 (2011: RM1,686,000).

 Included in property development costs is leasehold land costing Nil (2011: RM200,000) which is 
registered in the name of a joint venture partner of a subsidiary.

 Included in property development costs of the Group are freehold and leasehold land and 
development costs amounting to RM162,920,000 (2011: RM157,749,000) which have been 
charged to financial institutions as securities for the term loans granted to the Group, as disclosed 
in Note 16(a) and (e) (2011: Note 16(a), (c) and (e)).
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5. inVeSTMenT properTieS

investment

Freehold leasehold leasehold
property

under
land land building construction Total

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

group

at 31 March 2012

Cost

At 1 April 2011 60,000 44,113 - 125,036 229,149
Additions - - - 61,240 61,240
Disposal (Note 7) (60,000) - - - (60,000)
Transfer from inventories 

of completed properties 
(Note 11) - 205 375 - 580

At 31 March 2012 - 44,318 375 186,276 230,969

accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

At 1 April 2011
Accumulated depreciation - 3,960 - - 3,960
Accumulated impairment 

losses 38,000 1,245 - 7,633 46,878
Depreciation charge for  

the year - 481 7 - 488
Disposal (Note 7) (38,000) - - - (38,000)
Reversal of impairment loss 

(Note 20) - (306) - - (306)
At 31 March 2012
Analysed as:

Accumulated depreciation - 4,441 7 - 4,448
Accumulated impairment 

losses - 939 - 7,633 8,572
- 5,380 7 7,633 13,020

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2012 - 38,938 368 178,643 217,949
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5.  inVeSTMenT properTieS (ConT’D)

investment

Freehold leasehold leasehold
property

under
land land building construction Total

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

group (cont’d)

at 31 March 2011

Cost

At 1 April 2010  60,000  44,113  -  -  104,113 
Transfer from property, plant 

and equipment (Note 3)  -  -  -  115,867  115,867 
Transfer from property 

development cost 
(Note 4(b))  -  -  -  9,169  9,169 

At 31 March 2011  60,000  44,113  -  125,036  229,149 

accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

At 1 April 2010
Accumulated depreciation  -  3,497  -  -  3,497 
Accumulated impairment 

losses  37,270  -  -  -  37,270 
Impairment loss recognised 

in income statement 
(Note 24)  730  1,245  -  -  1,975 

Depreciation charge for 
the year  -  463  -  -  463 

Transfer from property, plant 
and equipment (Note 3)  -  -  -  7,275  7,275 

Transfer from property 
development cost 
(Note 4(b))  -  -  -  358  358 

At 31 March 2011
Analysed as:

Accumulated depreciation  -  3,960  -  -  3,960 
Accumulated impairment 

losses  38,000  1,245  -  7,633  46,878 
 38,000  5,205  -  7,633  50,838 

net carrying amount

At 31 March 2011  22,000  38,908  -  117,403  178,311 
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5.  inVeSTMenT properTieS (ConT’D)

 Included in investment properties is certain long term leasehold land of the Group amounting to 
approximately RM12,736,000 (2011: RM12,908,000) which has been leased to a third party under an 
operating lease agreement, as disclosed in Note 28. The fair value of this long term leasehold land has 
been determined by using cash flow projections. Cash flow projections is for operating lease period of 
twenty-five (25) years and pre-tax discount rate applied to the expected cash flows to be generated to 
the present value is 6.6%.

 The calculations of value in use for the leasehold land is most sensitive to the following assumption:

 Pre-tax discount rate – Discount rate reflect the current market assessment of the risks specific to each 
CGU. This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate 
future investment proposals. In determining appropriate discount rate, regard has been given to the 
base lending rate set by the banks.

 Certain long term leasehold land and investment property under construction of the Group with carrying 
value of RM217,379,000 (2011: RM156,311,000) have been charged to financial institutions as securities 
for credit facilities granted to the Group, as disclosed in Note 16(a), (b) and (e) (2011: Note 16(a), (c) and 
(e)).

 The remaining investment properties excluding investment properties under construction are fair valued 
at RM26,912,000 (2011: RM26,000,000) as determined by registered independent appraisers having 
an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the category of the 
properties being valued. Fair values were determined having regard to recent market transactions for 
similar properties in the same location as the Group’s investment properties. 

 The fair value of investment properties under construction could not be determined as the fair value could 
not be reliably obtained. The interest expense capitalised in investment properties under construction 
during the financial year is RM7,438,000 (2011: RM1,655,000).

6. inTangiBle aSSeT

group 
 2012  2011 

 rM’000  rM’000 

net carrying amount

At 1 April 2011/2010  23,942  23,942 
Impairment loss recognised in income statement (Note 24)  (768)  - 
At 31 March 2012/2011  23,174  23,942 

(i) allocation of goodwill

 Goodwill arising from business combinations has been allocated to two cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”) for impairment testing, namely property development and property investment.
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6. inTangiBle aSSeT (ConT’D)

(i) allocation of goodwill (cont’d)

 The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

property development

At 1 April 2011/2010 9,491 9,491
Reclassification 1,175 -
Impairment loss recognised in income statement (Note 24) (768) -
At 31 March 2012/2011 9,898 9,491

property investment

At 1 April 2011/2010 14,451 14,451
Reclassification (1,175) -
At 31 March 2012/2011 13,276 14,451

Total goodwill 23,174 23,942

(ii) impairment testing of goodwill

 The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations 
using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering five-year 
and fifty-year periods. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections and the 
forecasted growth rate for the property investment CGU used to extrapolate cash flows beyond 
the fifty-year period are 6.6% (2011: 6.5%) and 10% for every two years (2011: 10%) respectively. 
The property development’s CGU used in the five-year cash flow projections is based on the 
expected sales and contracted costs throughout the duration of development project and using 
the stage of completion method as described in the property development cost note 2.4(h)(ii).

 The calculations of value in use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

 Growth rates – The forecasted growth rates are based on published industry research and do not 
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs. 

 Pre-tax discount rates – Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks specific 
to each CGU. This is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and 
to evaluate future investment proposals. In determining appropriate discount rates for each CGU, 
regard has been given to the base lending rate set by the banks.
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7. inVeSTMenTS in SuBSiDiarieS

Company
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 570,701 648,830
Accumulated impairment losses (203,946) (261,468)

366,755 387,362

 Details of the subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in Malaysia are as follows:

paid-up 
share 

capital 

proportion of 
ownership  

interest 
name of subsidiaries rM’000 2012 2011 principal activities

  % %  

Held by the Company:

Climate Engineering (Malaya) 
Sdn. Bhd.

50,000 100.00 100.00 Investment holding

AGB Properties Sdn. Bhd. 1,000 100.00 100.00 Investment holding and 
renting out of offices

Pinus Park Sdn. Bhd. 680 100.00 100.00 Renting out of bungalow

BH Builders Sdn. Bhd. 110,000 100.00 100.00 Investment holding, 
property investment 
and development

Primadana Utama Sdn. Bhd. 2,500 100.00 100.00 Investment holding, 
property investment 
and development

Selamat Ayer Puteh Co. 
Sdn. Bhd.

78,700 - 100.00 Property investment and 
development

Syarikat Kapasi Sdn. Bhd. 178,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment 
and development and 
carpark operations

Changkat Fajar Sdn. Bhd. 1,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment and 
development

Quality Trend Sdn. Bhd. 244 100.00 100.00 Property investment and 
development

Safe Valley Sdn. Bhd. * 500 100.00 100.00 Property investment and 
development
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7. inVeSTMenTS in SuBSiDiarieS (ConT’D)

paid-up 
share 

capital 

proportion of 
ownership  

interest 
name of subsidiaries rM’000 2012 2011 principal activities

  % %  

Held through subsidiaries:

BH Realty Sdn. Bhd. 3,100 100.00 100.00 Property investment and 
development and car 
park operation

Wangsa Masyhur Sdn. Bhd. 30,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment and 
development

Tekad Intisari Sdn. Bhd. ** 75.00 75.00 Property development

Taman Bestari Sdn. Bhd. 750 100.00 100.00 Property development

Levenue Property Management 
Sdn. Bhd.

*** - 100.00 Property management

* Audited by firm other than Ernst & Young
** Represents paid-up share capital of RM100
*** Represents paid-up share capital of RM2

 The Group disposed off its 100% equity interest in Selamat Ayer Puteh Co. Sdn. Bhd. and Levenue 
Property Management Sdn. Bhd. on 18 October 2011 and  25 August 2011 for a total consideration of 
RM14,500,000 and RM2 respectively comprising of cash and deferred cash settlement.

 The disposal had the following effects on the financial position of the Group as at the end of the year:

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Investment property 22,000 22,000
Receivables and deposits 20 99
Cash and cash equivalents 206 189
Payables and accruals (230) (268)
Amount due to holding company and fellow subsidiary (5,075) (5,076)
Net assets disposed 16,921 16,944
Toal disposal proceeds (14,500)
Loss on disposals to the Group (Note 20,24) 2,421

Disposal proceeds discharged by:
Cash 290
Deferred payment 14,210

14,500

Cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration 14,500
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries disposed (206)
Net cash inflow on disposals 14,294



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 2

NoteS to tHe FINANCIAl StAtemeNtS
31 march 2012 (CoNt’d)

82

7. inVeSTMenTS in SuBSiDiarieS (ConT’D)

 In previous financial year, the Group acquired an additional 0.17% equity interest in BH Realty Sdn. 
Bhd. (“BHR”) from its non-controlling interests for a cash consideration of RM5,000. As a result of 
this acquisiton, BHR became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. On the date of acquisition, 
the carrying value of the additional interest acquired was RM155,000. The difference between the 
consideration and the book value of the interest acquired of RM150,000 is reflected in the statement of 
comprehensive income as gain of acquisition of non-controlling interests.

8. inVeSTMenT in aSSoCiaTe

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Unquoted shares outside Malaysia 375 - 375 -
Share of post-incorporation losses (250) - (250) -

125 - 125 -
Exchange differences (11) - (11) -

114 - 114 -

 Details of the associate, which is incorporated in Indonesia is as follows:

 paid-up 
 share 
 capital 

 proportion of 
 ownership  

 interest 
name of associate  rM’000 2012 2011 principal activities

  % %  

PT AP International * 750 50  - Property development 
and property 
management

* Audited by firm other than Ernst & Young

 The summarised financial information of the associate, not adjusted for the proportion of ownership 
interest held by the Group, is as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

assets and liabilities:
Total assets 427 - 427 -
Total liabilities 198 - 198 -

results:
Revenue - - - -
Loss for the year 500 - 500 -
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9. aVailaBle-For-Sale inVeSTMenTS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Quoted shares in Malaysia 9,309 12,961 1,632 2,271
Quoted shares outside Malaysia 12 10 12 10

9,321 12,971 1,644 2,281

10. DeFerreD Tax

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

At 1 April 2011/2010 (97,827) (100,189) - -
Recognised in income statement (Note 25) 14,322 2,362 (11) -
At 31 March 2012/2011 (83,505) (97,827) (11) -

Presented prior to appropriate offsetting 
as follows:

Deferred tax asset 569 30 8 -
Deferred tax liabilities (84,074) (97,857) (19) -

(83,505) (97,827) (11) -

 The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets of the Group and the Company 
during the financial year prior to appropriate offsetting are as follows:

revaluation 
of land held 
for property 

development 

 provisions 
 and 

 unused 
 tax losses  Total 

 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group

Deferred tax assets:

At 1 April 2011  -  30  30 
Recognised in income statement  -  539  539 
At 31 March 2012  -  569  569 

At 1 April 2010  -  32  32 
Recognised in income statement  -  (2)  (2)
At 31 March 2011  -  30  30 

Deferred tax liabilities:

At 1 April 2011  (97,814)  (43)  (97,857)
Recognised in income statement  13,817  (34)  13,783 
At 31 March 2012  (83,997)  (77)  (84,074)

At 1 April 2010  (100,189)  (32)  (100,221)
Recognised in income statement  2,375  (11)  2,364 
At 31 March 2011  (97,814)  (43)  (97,857)
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10. DeFerreD Tax (ConT’D)

 unused 
 tax losses 

 rM’000 

Company

Deferred tax assets:

At 1 April 2011/2010  - 
Recognised in income statement  8 
At 31 March 2012/2011  8 

Deferred tax liabilities:

At 1 April 2011/2010  - 
Recognised in income statement  (19)
At 31 March 2012/2011  (19)

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Unused tax losses 2,708 3,520 - 510
Unabsorbed capital allowances 161 199 - -

2,869 3,719 - 510

 The unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of the Group are available indefinitely 
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective entities within the Group, subject to no 
substantial change in shareholdings of those entities under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines 
issued by the tax authority.

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items as they may not be used to 
offset taxable profits of other subsidiaries in the Group and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have a 
history of losses. 

11. inVenTorieS oF CoMpleTeD properTieS

 group 
 2012  2011 

 rM’000  rM’000 

Inventories of completed properties, at cost  8,868  9,628 

 Certain completed properties with carrying value of RM4,953,000 (2011: RM4,953,000) have been 
charged to financial institutions as securities for credit facilities granted to the Group, as disclosed in 
Note 16(a) (2011: Note 16(a)).

 During the financial year, the Group has transferred inventories of completed properties to investment 
properties with the carrying value of RM580,000.
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12. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBleS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Current

Trade receivables

Receivables from sale of properties 
and building materials 2,048 203 1,868 -

Accrued billings in respect of property 
development costs 4,648 - - -

6,696 203 1,868 -

other receivables

Due from previous stockbroking clients 14,677 14,792 - -
Sundry receivables 7,542 1,167 747 673
Deferred payment for disposal of a 

subsidiary 14,210 - 14,210 -
Deposits for acquisition of land 2,030 3,190 - -
Accrued income 130 70 1 5
Other deposits 1,067 598 301 8
Capital contribution pursuant to a Joint 

Project Management Agreement 3,153 3,603 - -
Due from associate 219 - 219 -
Due from subsidiaries - - 19,857 2,547

43,028 23,420 35,335 3,233
Less: Exchange translation difference (37) - (37) -
 Allowance for impairment (15,059) (9,421) (530) (439)
 Interest in suspense (2,307) (2,307) - -

25,625 11,692 34,768 2,794

Total trade and other receivables 32,321 11,895 36,636 2,794
Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 13) 176,870 21,551 2,579 4,248
Total loans and receivables 209,191 33,446 39,215 7,042

(a) Trade receivables

 The Group’s and the Company’s normal trade credit terms range from 14 to 60 days (2011: 14 to 
60 days) and 60 days (2011: Nil) respectively. Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a 
case-by-case basis.

 The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to a single 
debtor or a group of debtors.
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12. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBleS (ConT’D)

(a) Trade receivables (cont’d)

 ageing analysis of trade receivables

 The ageing analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables is as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Neither past due nor impaired  6,647  119  1,868  - 
1 to 30 days past due not impaired  7  16  -  - 
31 to 60 days past due not impaired  6  13  -  - 
61 to 90 days past due not impaired  -  11  -  - 
More than 91 days past due not 

impaired  36  44  -  - 
 49  84  -  - 

 6,696  203  1,868  - 

 The total trade receivables are unsecured in nature.

 Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good 
payment records. 

 None of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated 
during the financial year. 

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

 The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM49,000 (2011: RM84,000) that are past due at 
the reporting date but not impaired and are unsecured in nature.  

(b) other receivables

 Other receivables that are impaired

 At the reporting date, the Group have provided an allowance of RM9,895,000 (2011: RM9,255,000) 
for impairment of the amount due from previous stockbroking clients and RM5,164,000 (2011: 
RM166,000) for impairment of the amount due from sundry receivables. The Company has 
provided an allowance of RM91,000 (2011: Nil) for impairment of the amount due from sundry 
receivables.

 The amounts due from previous stockbroking clients represent amounts receivable from margin 
clients and non-margin clients prior to the disposal of the Group’s stockbroking business in prior 
years and are partly collateralised by quoted shares. 

 The amount due from sundry receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand.
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12. TraDe anD oTHer reCeiVaBleS (ConT’D)

(b) other receivables (cont’d)

 Movement in allowance accounts

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

At 1 April 2011 (9,421) (10,230) (439) (439)
Bad debts recovered (Note 20)  52  55  -  - 
Bad debts written off  99  -  -  - 
Impairment losses (Note 24)  (5,789)  -  (91)  - 
Reversal of impairment losses 

(Note 20)  -  754 -  - 
At 31 March 2012  (15,059)  (9,421)  (530)  (439)

(c) Deposit for acquisition of land

 The deposits made by the Group relate to the proposed acquisitions of freehold land as described 
in Note 31 and earnest deposit for a proposed joint venture development for a piece of land in 
Klang Valley.

(d) Capital contribution pursuant to a joint project Management agreement 

 The capital contribution was pursuant to a Joint Project Management Agreement (“the Agreement”) 
entered by the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, AGB Properties Sdn. Bhd. with Puncak Darul 
Naim Sdn. Bhd. on 12 July 2005 to jointly manage the development of a residential project for 
a period of 9 months or such extended period as mutually agreed upon. On 12 July 2006, the 
Agreement was mutually terminated and Puncak Darul Naim Sdn Bhd has returned a portion of 
the balance of capital contribution to the subsidiary in tranches.

(e) Due from subsidiaries

 The amount due from subsidiaries are non-trade in nature. These amounts are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and are repayable on demand.

 As at the reporting date, the Company has provided an allowance of RM439,000 (2011: RM439,000) 
for impairment of the amount due from a subsidiary which has been suffering financial losses for 
the current and past financial years.

13. CaSH anD Bank BalanCeS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Cash at banks and on hand  15,865  4,647  199  432 
Short term deposits with:

Licensed banks  152,486  6,485  -  - 
Financial institutions  8,519  10,419  2,380  3,816 

Cash and bank balances  176,870  21,551  2,579  4,248 
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13. CaSH anD Bank BalanCeS (ConT’D)

 Included in cash at banks of the Group are amounts of RM11,056,000 (2011: RM594,000) held pursuant 
to Section 7A of the Housing Development (Control and Licensing) Act 1966 and therefore restricted 
from use in other operations. 

 Included in cash at bank of the Group is an amount of RM12,319,000 (2011: RM45,000) which was 
pledged to financial institutions for credit facilities granted to a few subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 
16(a), (b) and (e) (2011: Note 16(a), (c) and (e)).

 Short term deposits with licensed banks of the Group amounting to RM150,936,000 (2011: RM5,969,000) 
are pledged to licensed banks for credit facilities granted to a few subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 
16(a) and (e) (2011: Note 16(c) and (e)). 

 The weighted average effective interest rates of short term deposits at the reporting date are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

 %  %  %  % 

Licensed banks  3.08  2.51  -  - 
Financial institutions  3.00  2.93  3.06  3.08 

 The average maturities of short term deposits as at the end of the financial year are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011 

 Days  Days  Days  Days 

Licensed banks  89  49  -  - 
Financial institutions  12  26  16  27 

14. SHare CapiTal 

number of
ordinary shares amount 

2012 2011 2012 2011 
 ’000  ’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group and Company:

authorised: 

At beginning/end of year  1,500,000  1,500,000  300,000  300,000 

issued and fully paid:

At beginning/end of year, at par value 
of RM0.20 each  975,315  975,315  195,063  195,063 
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14. SHare CapiTal (ConT’D)

employee share option scheme

 The Asian Pac Holdings Berhad’s Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) is governed by the by-
laws approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 31 October 2005. The 
ESOS was granted on 31 May 2006 and is to be in force for a period of five (5) years from the date of 
implementation. The ESOS granted in prior years expired on 30 May 2011. The tenure of the ESOS 
was extended for another 5 years to 12 April 2016. However, there were no ESOS granted during the 
financial year.

 The salient features of the ESOS are as follows:

(i) The ESOS Committee appointed by the Board of Directors to administer the ESOS, may from time 
to time grant options to eligible employees of the Group to subscribe for new ordinary shares of 
RM0.20 each in the Company.

(ii) Subject to the discretion of the ESOS Committee, any employee whose employment has been 
confirmed and any directors of the Group, shall be eligible to participate in the ESOS. 

(iii) The total number of ordinary shares to be issued under the ESOS shall not exceed in aggregate 
10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at any point of time during the tenure 
of the ESOS and out of which not more than 50% of the shares shall be allocated, in aggregate, 
to directors and senior management. In addition, not more than 10% of the shares available 
under the ESOS shall be allocated to any individual director or employee who, either singly or 
collectively through his/her associates, holds 20% or more in the issued and paid-up capital of 
the Company. 

(iv) The option price for each share shall be the price as determined by the ESOS Committee which is 
at a discount of not more than ten per cent (10%) or such maximum discount as may be permitted 
by the relevant regulatory authorities from the weighted average market price of the new ordinary 
shares for the five (5) market days preceding the date on which the option is granted, or the par 
value of the new ordinary shares of the Company of RM0.20 each, whichever is higher. The option 
price is payable only in cash. 

(v) An option granted under the ESOS shall be capable of being exercised by the grantee by notice 
in writing to the Company commencing from the date of grant throughout the period of five (5) 
years from 31 May 2006. The employees’ entitlements to the options are vested as soon as they 
become exercisable. 

(vi) All new ordinary shares issued upon exercise of the options granted under the ESOS will rank 
pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company other than as may be 
specified in a resolution approving the distribution of dividends prior to their exercise dates.

(vii) The persons to whom the options have been granted have no right to participate by virtue of the 
options, in any share issue of any other company. 



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 2

NoteS to tHe FINANCIAl StAtemeNtS
31 march 2012 (CoNt’d)

90

14. SHare CapiTal (ConT’D)

employee share option scheme (cont’d)

 The following table illustrates the movements in share options granted during the current financial year:

 number of 
share options 

 ’000 

Outstanding at 1 April 2011  9,095 
Expired  (9,095)
Exercisable at 31 March 2012  - 

 Fair value of share options granted in the previous financial years:

 The fair value of share options granted during the previous financial years was estimated by an external 
valuer using a Black-Scholes formula, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
options were granted. The fair value of share options measured at grant date and the assumptions are 
as follows:

2007 

Fair value of share options at grant date, 31 May 2006 (RM)  0.07 
Weighted average share price (RM)  0.14 
Expected volatility (%)  86.11 
Expected life (years)  5.00 
Risk free rate (%)  3.75 
Expected dividend yield (%)  - 

 The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is 
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of 
options grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value. 

15. oTHer reSerVeS 

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Merger reserve - - 78,000 78,000
Share option reserve - 1,128 - 1,128
Fair value adjustment reserve 805 3,434 2 560
Foreign currency translation reserve (48) - (48) -

757 4,562 77,954 79,688

 Movements in reserves are shown in the respective statements of changes in equity.
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15. oTHer reSerVeS (ConT’D)

 The nature and purpose of each category of reserve are as follows:

(a) Merger reserve

 The premium on shares issued in respect of the acquisition of BH Builders Sdn. Bhd. in the 
financial year ended 31 March 1996 had been credited to the merger reserve in accordance with 
the relief granted by Section 60(4) of the Companies Act, 1965.

(b) Share option reserve

 In previous financial year, the share option reserve represents the equity-settled share options 
granted to employees. This reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received from 
employees recorded on grant of share options.

(c) Fair value adjustment reserve

 Fair value adjustment reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available-
for-sale investments until they are disposed of or impaired.

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve

 Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from 
that of the Group’s presentation currency.

16. loanS anD BorrowingS

group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Current

Secured:
Floating rate term loans (a) 1,167 - - -
Ijarah financing (b) 422 - - -
Tawarruq Murabahah (c) - 15,000 - -
Obligation under finance leases (d) 245 231 41 96

1,834 15,231 41 96

non-current

Secured:
Floating rate term loans (a) 49,757 42,000 - -
Ijarah financing (b) 17,541 - - -
Obligation under finance leases (d) 694 401 - 41
Medium term notes (e) 197,698 29,676 - -

265,690 72,077 - 41

Total loans and borrowings 267,524 87,308 41 137
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16. loanS anD BorrowingS (ConT’D)

The remaining maturities of the loans and borrowings are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

On demand and within one year 1,834 15,231 41 96
More than 1 year and less 

than 2 years 78,873 17,641 - 41
More than 2 years and less 

than 5 years 186,817 54,436 - -
267,524 87,308 41 137

(a) The floating rate term loans are obtained for development projects of the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiary companies, Changkat Fajar Sdn. Bhd. and BH Realty Sdn. Bhd. It bore an 
average interest rate of 5.09% to 5.32% (2011: 4.42%) per annum. It is secured by charges 
over the Group’s freehold and leasehold properties as disclosed in Note 4(b), certain leasehold 
property (Note 5), certain inventories of completed properties (Note 11) and certain short term 
deposits and bank balances (Note 13).

(b) Ijarah financing is obtained for the working capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary, BH Realty Sdn. 
Bhd. It bore an average interest rate of 4.6% (2011: Nil) per annum. It is secured by charges over 
the Group’s leasehold property as disclosed in Note 5, certain bank balances (Note 13) and lease 
proceeds from an operating lease (Note 28).

(c) Tawarruq Murabahah was obtained for the working capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary, BH 
Realty Sdn. Bhd. It bore an average interest rate of 8.05% (2011: 7.88%) per annum. It was 
secured by charges over the Group’s leasehold properties as disclosed in Note 4(b) and Note 5 
and certain short term deposit and bank balance (Note 13). It was fully settled on 13 May 2011.

(d) group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Future minimum lease payments:

Within and up to one year 287 259 42 100
After one and up to two years 245 158 - 41
After two and up to five years 503 280 - -

1,035 697 42 141
Less: Future finance charges (96) (65) (1) (4)
Present value of finance liabilities 939 632 41 137

present value of finance lease 
liabilities:

Within and up to one year 245 231 41 96
After one and up to two years 216 141 - 41
After two and up to five years 478 260 - -

939 632 41 137

analysed as:

Due within 12 months 245 231 41 96
Due after 12 months 694 401 - 41

939 632 41 137
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16. loanS anD BorrowingS (ConT’D)

(d) Future minimum lease payments: (cont’d)

 The hire purchase payables bore interest at flat rates of between 2.15% to 3.25% (2011: 2.15% 
to 2.65%) per annum.

(e) During the financial year, Syarikat Kapasi Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 
issued RM170,000,000 (2011: RM30,000,000) Medium Term Notes (“MTN”) under a Financial 
Guarantee Insurance Policy Issuance Facility from Danajamin Nasional Berhad to finance the 
construction and development cost of KK Time Square 2 project.

 The MTNs have a tenure of 1.5 to 3.5 years and are subject to coupon rate of 3.58% to 4.15% per 
annum and guarantee fee of 1.5% per annum.

 The facility is secured by the Group’s leasehold properties as disclosed in Note 4(b) and Note 5, 
certain short term deposits and bank balances (Note 13).

17. TraDe anD oTHer paYaBleS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Current

Trade payables

Third parties 28,368 9,170 - -
Progress billings in respect of 
   property development costs - 1 - -
Trade accruals 10,199 7,389 - -

38,567 16,560 - -

other payables 

Deposits from property purchasers 1,679 21,270 - -
Deposit and prepayment from tenants 1,519 1,609 - -
Interest payables 2,657 342 - -
Accruals 1,181 431 82 64
Others 3,887 3,992 27 10
Amount due to subsidiaries - - 138,257 124,009

10,923 27,644 138,366 124,083
Total trade and other payables 49,490 44,204 138,366 124,083
Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 16) 267,524 87,308 41 137
Total financial liabilities carried at 

amortised cost 317,014 131,512 138,407 124,220

 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range 
from 30 to 60 days (2011: 30 to 60 days).

 The amount due to subsidiaries by the Company are non-trade in nature. These amounts are unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 2

NoteS to tHe FINANCIAl StAtemeNtS
31 march 2012 (CoNt’d)

94

18. reVenue

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Sale of development properties 82,907 30,856 - -
Sale of inventories 159 1,961 - -
Sale of building materials 1,868 - 1,868 -
Carpark operations 2,176 1,740 - -
Interest income on deposits 237 139 237 139
Rental income from:

Lease 1,046 1,016 - -
Other 35 35 - -

Dividend income from:
Subsidiary - - 7,700 11,550
Equity investment, quoted in Malaysia 182 208 - -

Property management fee - 498 - -
Management fees from subsidiaries - - 741 675

88,610 36,453 10,546 12,364

19. CoST oF SaleS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Property development costs (Note 4(b))  54,742  11,889  -  - 
(Over)/under provision of property 

development cost in prior years  (135)  112  -  - 
Carpark operations  1,004  841  -  - 
Property management expenditure  -  506  -  - 
Cost of building materials  1,854  -  1,854  - 
Others  180  1,741  -  - 

 57,645  15,089  1,854  - 
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20. oTHer inCoMe

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Administration charges  606  826  -  - 
Bad debts recovered (Note 12)  52  55  -  - 
Discount received  -  253  -  - 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment  2  -  -  - 
Gain on disposal of quoted investment  159  513  -  - 
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (Note 7)  5  -  -  - 
Miscellaneous income  193  8  -  2 
Other interest income  3,416  512  -  - 
Overdue interest receivable  3  128  -  - 
Purchasers’ deposit forfeited  49  -  -  - 
Rental income  26  26  -  - 
Reversal of impairment loss on:

- other receivables  -  754  -  - 
- property, plant and equipment  63  -  -  - 
- investment property  306  -  -  - 
- investment in subsidiaries  -  -  5,619  3,657 

 4,880  3,075  5,619  3,659 

21. eMploYee BeneFiTS expenSe

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Wages and salaries 6,216 5,291 1,569 1,208
Contributions to defined contribution plan 719 626 251 145
Social security contributions 27 23 2 2
Short term accumulating compensated 

absence (48) 5 8 (7)
Other employee benefits 251 153 40 25

7,165 6,098 1,870 1,373

 Included in employee benefits expense of the Group and of the Company are executive directors’ 
remuneration amounting to RM1,896,000 (2011: RM2,027,000) and RM1,239,000 (2011: RM840,000) 
respectively as further disclosed in Note 22.
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22. DireCTorS’ reMuneraTion

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Directors of the company:

Executive directors’ remuneration:
Salaries and other emoluments 1,896 2,016 1,239 840

Non-executive directors’ 
remuneration (Note 24):
Fees 216 216 96 96

Total directors’ remuneration 2,112 2,232 1,335 936

Directors of subsidiaries:

Executive:
Salaries and other emoluments - 11 - -

Total 2,112 2,243 1,335 936

 The details of the remuneration receivable by directors of the Group during the year are as follows:

Salary 
and other 

emoluments  Fees  Bonus  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

at 31 March 2012

executive

Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang  1,029  -  210  1,239 
Chuah Swee Guan * ^  657  -  -  657 

 1,686  -  210  1,896 

non-executive

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin 
bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas *  -  120  -  120 

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri  -  48  -  48 
Tan Siew Poh  -  48  -  48 

 -  216  -  216 
 1,686  216  210  2,112 
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22. DireCTorS’ reMuneraTion (ConT’D)

Salary 
and other 

emoluments  Fees  Bonus  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

at 31 March 2011

executive

Dato’ Mustapha bin Buang  690  -  150  840 
Chuah Swee Guan *  966  -  210  1,176 

 1,656  -  360  2,016 

non-executive

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj. Megat Najmuddin  
bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj. Megat Khas *  -  120  -  120 

Dato’ Mohamed Salleh bin Bajuri  -  48  -  48 
Tan Siew Poh  -  48  -  48 

 -  216  -  216 
 1,656  216  360  2,232 

* The above directors’ remuneration was paid by a subsidiary.
^ The above director resigned during the financial year.

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within 
the following bands are analysed below:

2012 2011 

executive directors:
RM600,000 - RM700,000  1  - 
RM750,001 - RM850,000  -  1 
RM850,001 - RM900,000  -  - 
RM1,050,001 - RM1,200,000  -  1 
RM1,200,001 - RM1,250,000  1  - 

non-executive directors:
Below RM50,000  2  2 
RM100,001 - RM150,000  1  1 

23. FinanCe CoSTS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Interest expense on:
Hire purchase  46  20  4  7 
Bank borrowings  2,007  2,239  -  - 

 2,053  2,259  4  7 



A S I A N  PA C  H o l d I N g S  B e r H A d  •  A n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 2

NoteS to tHe FINANCIAl StAtemeNtS
31 march 2012 (CoNt’d)

98

24. proFiT/(loSS) BeFore Tax

 The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit/(loss) before tax:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Employee benefit expenses (Note 21) 7,165 6,098 1,870 1,373
Non-executive directors’ remuneration 

(Note 22) 216 216 96 96
Auditors’ remuneration

- statutory audit 143 97 35 26
- other services 7 7 7 7

Depreciation (Note 3 and 5) 2,395 1,939 238 151
Property, plant and equipment written off 10 1 1 -
Impairment on:

- quoted investments 243 - 79 -
- investment properties (Note 5) - 1,975 - -
- investment in subsidiaries - - 9,281 3,330
- intangible asset (Note 6) 768 - - -
- other receivables (Note 12(b)) 5,789 - 91 -
- property development cost (Note 4(b)) 200 - - -

Loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 28 32 - -

Loss on disposal of subsidiary 
company (Note 7) 2,426 - 2,445 -

Rental of land and buildings 716 682 - -
Share of result of associate 250 - 250 -

25. inCoMe Tax expenSe

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Income tax:
Current year tax expense 6,438 555 1,460 -
Over provision in prior years (4) (1,407) - (1,097)

6,434 (852) 1,460 (1,097)

Deferred tax (Note 10):
Relating to origination of temporary 

differences (516) 3 11 -
Over provision in prior years (13,806) (2,365) - -

(14,322) (2,362) 11 -
Total income tax expense (7,888) (3,214) 1,471 (1,097)

 Income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2011: 25%) of the estimated 
assessable profit for the year.
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25. inCoMe Tax expenSe (ConT’D)

 The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 7,786 8,068 (833) 10,586

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate 
of 25% (2011: 25%) 1,947 2,017 (208) 2,646

Income not subject to tax 237 (859) (1,413) (915)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,905 1,224 3,200 927
Utilisation of previously unrecognised 

tax losses (579) (2,635) (108) (2,635)
Utilisation of capital allowances (2) (23) - (23)
Deferred tax assets not recognised in 

respect of current year’s unutilised 
tax losses and unabsorbed capital 
allowances 471 834 - -

Deferred tax assets recognised in respect 
of current year’s unutilised tax losses 
and unabsorbed capital allowances (57) - - -

Over provision of tax expense in prior years (4) (1,407) - (1,097)
Over provision of deferred tax in prior years (13,806) (2,365) - -
Tax expense for the year (7,888) (3,214) 1,471 (1,097)

26. DiSConTinueD operaTionS

 On 18 October 2011 and 25 August 2011, the Group disposed off its 100% equity interest in Selamat 
Ayer Puteh Co. Sdn. Bhd. and Levenue Property Management Sdn. Bhd. which were previously reported 
in the property investment and property management segments. The decision of disposing these two 
companies was in line with the Group’s medium and long term goal to maintain its competitiveness, 
efficiency and bottom line, as these companies no longer fit into the Group structure and revised 
business plans.

 Income statements disclosure

 The results of the companies disposed for the year ended 31 March 2012 are as follows:

group
 2012  2011 

 rM’000  rM’000 

Revenue  166 498
Cost of sales  (171)  (505)
Gross profit  (5)  (7)
Other income  4  23 
Other expenses  (22)  (761)
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax  (23)  (745)
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27. earningS per SHare

(a) Basic

 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable 
to owners of the parents by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
financial year held by the Company.

group
2012 2011

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent (RM’000) 15,702 11,285
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000) 975,315 975,315

Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Company (sen) 1.6 1.2

(b) Diluted

 There is no diluted earnings per share as the Company does not have any dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares since the reporting date 
and before the completion of these financial statements.

28. operaTing leaSe CoMMiTMenT

(a) group as lessor

 On 15 December 2004, the Group entered into a Lease Agreement (“the Agreement”) with 
Magnificient Diagraph Sdn. Bhd. (“MDSB”), a company incorporated in Malaysia, for the lease of 
one long term leasehold land measuring approximately 6.265 acres as described in Note 5.

 Amongst the salient terms of the Agreement are as follows:

(a) the Group agrees to lease the long term leasehold land to MDSB for a period of thirty (30) 
years commencing within one (1) month from the date at which all conditions precedent in 
the Agreement have been fulfilled (“the Commencement Date”);

(b) The lease is provided for the purpose of the erection and construction and subsequent use 
by MDSB thereon for a hypermarket facility;

(c) MDSB shall pay to the Group an amount of RM474,846 as deposit;

(d) The amount of rental payable by MDSB to the Group shall be calculated as follows:

(i) RM0.145 per square foot per month during the construction period;

(ii) RM0.29 per square foot per month commencing from the day immediately following 
the expiry of the construction period to the expiry of a period of three (3) years 
commencing from the Commencement Date; and

(iii) Thereafter, at the end of every period of three (3) years each, the first of which shall 
commence from the Commencement Date, the rental shall be increased at the rate of 
seven per centum (7%) of the rental of the preceding three (3) years period.
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28. operaTing leaSe CoMMiTMenT (ConT’D)

(a) group as lessor (cont’d)

(e) Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement, MDSB shall be entitled to lawfully terminate the 
Agreement at any time prior to the expiry of three (3) years each, the first such three (3) years 
period to commence from the date of the Agreement, without compensation or liability to 
the Group and the Group shall refund MDSB the deposit as described in item (c) above.

 On 8 November 2005, all conditions precedent in the Agreement were fulfilled.

 Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are 
as follows:

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Not later than 1 year 1,087 762
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 4,578 -

5,665 762

(b) group as lessee

 The Group has entered into commercial leases with third parties for the rental of office premises. 
The leases have a tenure of 1 to 3 years with renewal option included in the contract.

 Minimum lease payments recognised in income statement for the financial year ended 31 March 
2012 amounted to RM716,000.

 Future minimum rentals payable at the reporting date are as follows:

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Not later than 1 year 363 180
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 55 135

29. CapiTal CoMMiTMenTS

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Capital expenditure

Approved and contracted for:
Acquisition of freehold land (Note 31) 15,761 15,761
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30. ConTingenT liaBiliTieS

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Secured:

Corporate guarantees given to banks for 
credit facilities granted to subsidiaries - - 283,033 90,447

Performance guarantees given to third 
parties 19,454 6,953 - -

19,454 6,953 283,033 90,447

31. SigniFiCanT anD SuBSeQuenT eVenT

 proposed acquisition by BH Builders Sdn. Bhd.

 The Company had announced on 19 May 2004, the Proposed Acquisition of 91.367 acres of freehold 
land held under H.S. (D) 28646, PT 4021, Mukim of Semenyih, District of Hulu Langat, state of Selangor 
by BH Builders Sdn. Bhd. (“BH Builders”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from Vee Seng 
Development Sdn. Bhd. for a total cash consideration of RM17,511,765. The completion of the Proposed 
Acquisition is subject to the conditions precedent, which stated that amongst others, the withdrawal or 
removal of the Private Caveats from the said land within eighteen (18) months from the date of the Sale 
and Purchase Agreement or such time as may be extended by BH Builders at its absolute discretion.

 The period for the withdrawal or removal of the Private Caveats was first extended on 18 November 
2005 for a period of one (1) year to expire on 18 November 2006. Further extensions were made on 1 
November 2006, 8 October 2007, 10 October 2008 and 2 October 2009 for another one year each.

 On 12 October 2010, the Group had exercised its discretion to extend the time frame indefinitely for the 
private caveat to be withdrawn or removed until the acquisition takes place. 

32. relaTeD parTY DiSCloSureS 

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had 
the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

group
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Rental paid/payable to a company with common director, South 
Malaysia Industry Berhad 106 106

Company
2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000

Management fees charged to subsidiaries 741 -
Gross dividend income from a subsidiary 7,700 11,550
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32. relaTeD parTY DiSCloSureS (ConT’D)

 The above transactions with related companies were transacted at terms and conditions which 
were mutually agreed between the parties concerned. 

(b) Compensation by key management personnel

 The Company defines key management personnel as its directors whose remunerations are 
detailed in Note 22.

33. Fair Value oF FinanCial inSTruMenTS

 Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value:

2012 2011 
 Carrying  Fair   Carrying  Fair  
 amount  value  amount  value 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group

Financial liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (non-current)

- Term loans  49,757  49,510  42,000  40,916 
- Ijarah financing  17,541  13,997  -  - 
- Obligation under finance leases  694  692  401  388 
- Medium term notes  197,698  195,159  29,676  29,607 

Company

Financial liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (non-current)

- Obligation under finance lease  -  -  41  43 

 The carrying amounts of cash and short term-deposits, receivables and all other payables, based on 
their notional amounts, reasonably approximate fair values because these are mostly short-term in 
nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the 
reporting date.

34. FinanCial riSk ManageMenT oBjeCTiVeS anD poliCieS

 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of 
financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market 
price risk and foreign currency risk.

 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. 
The audit committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management 
process.
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34. FinanCial riSk ManageMenT oBjeCTiVeS anD poliCieS (ConT’D)

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

(a) Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk 
arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and 
bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high 
credit rating counterparties.

 The Group’s objectives are to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due 
to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third 
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to 
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 
with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

 Exposure to credit risk

 At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by: 

- The carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of 
financial position.

- Corporate guarantee provided by the Company to banks or financial institutions on 
subsidiaries’ bank loan.

 Information regarding credit enhancements for trade and other receivables is disclosed in Note 
12.

 Credit risk concentration profile

 The Group and the Company determine concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the business 
segment of its trade receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the 
Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables at the reporting date is as follows: 

2012 2011
 rM’000  % of total  rM’000  % of total 

group

By business segments:

Property development 4,697 70% 2 1%
Carpark operations 131 2% 120 59%
Trading of building materials 1,868 28%  81 40%

6,696 100% 203 100%
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34. FinanCial riSk ManageMenT oBjeCTiVeS anD poliCieS (ConT’D)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

 Credit risk concentration profile (cont’d)

2012 2011
 rM’000  % of total  rM’000  % of total 

Company

By business segment:

Trading of building materials 1,868 100%  - 0%

(b) liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk 
arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s 
and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of stand-by credit facilities. 

 At the reporting date, approximately 0.7% (2011: 17.4%) of the Group’s loans and borrowings 
(Note 16) will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements.

 analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at 
the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 
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34. FinanCial riSk ManageMenT oBjeCTiVeS anD poliCieS (ConT’D)

(b) liquidity risk (cont’d)

 analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (cont’d.)

2012  on demand 
 or within  one to 
 one year  five years  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables  49,490  -  49,490 
Loans and borrowings  2,753  312,750  315,503 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities  52,243 312,750 364,993

Company

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables, excluding 
financial guarantees  138,366  -  138,366 

Loans and borrowings  41  -  41 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities*  138,407  -  138,407 

2011  on demand 
 or within  one to 
 one year  five years  Total 
 rM’000  rM’000  rM’000 

group

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables  44,204  -  44,204 
Loans and borrowings  15,400  78,742  94,142 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities  59,604  78,742  138,346 

Company

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables, excluding financial 
guarantees  124,083  -  124,083 

Loans and borrowings  100  41  141 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities*  124,183  41  124,224 

* At the reporting date, the counterparty to the financial guarantees does not have a right to 
demand cash as the default has not occurred. Accordingly, financial guarantees under the 
scope of FRS 139 are not included in the above maturity profile analysis.
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34. FinanCial riSk ManageMenT oBjeCTiVeS anD poliCieS (ConT’D)

(c) interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from the short term 
deposits and loans and borrowings. 

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 

 At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 10 basis points lower/higher, with all other variables 
held constant, the Group’s and the Company’s profit net of tax arising as a result of lower/higher 
interest income on short term deposits and interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings 
would have the following effects:

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Profit net of tax (88) 16 (2) (3)

(d) Market price risk

 Market price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or 
exchange rates).

 The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risk arising from investment in quoted 
equity instruments in Malaysia and Singapore. These instruments are classified as available-for-
sale financial assets. The Group and the Company do not have exposure to commodity price risk.

 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to market price risk are minimal as the Group’s and the 
Company’s investment in quoted equity instruments are small compared to its total assets.

(e) Foreign currency risk

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

 The Company has transactional currency exposures arising from amount due from an associate 
that denominated in Indonesian Rupiah. The Company is also exposed to currency translation risk 
arising from its net investments in foreign operation.

 The Company’s exposure to market price risk is minimal.
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35. CapiTal ManageMenT

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions or expansion plans of the Group. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.

 The Group’s policy is to maintain a sustainable gearing ratio to meet its existing requirements taking 
into consideration the facilities agreements entered into by the Group. The Group includes within the 
net debt, loans and borrowings, hire purchase liabilities, trade and other payables, less cash and bank 
balances. Capital refers to equity attributable to owners. 

group Company
note 2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Loans and borrowings 16 267,524 87,308 41 137
Trade and other payables 17 49,490 44,204 138,366 124,083
Less: - Cash and cash equivalents 13 (176,870) (21,551) (2,579) (4,248)
Net debt 140,144 109,961 135,828 119,972

Equity attributable to the owners 
of the parent, representing total 
capital 323,751 310,726 274,478 277,388

Capital and net debt 463,895 420,687 410,306 397,360

Gearing ratio 30% 26% 33% 30%

36. SegMenT inForMaTion

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 
services, and has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) Investment holding - holding of quoted and unquoted shares for capital investment purposes

(ii) Property development - development of residential and commercial properties

(iii) Property investment - investment in properties

(iv) Carpark operations - operation of carpark

 Except as indicated above, no operating segments has been aggregated to form the above reportable 
segments.

 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 
based on operating profit or loss which, in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured 
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Income taxes are 
managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments. 

 Transfer prices between operating segments are on arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties. 
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36. SegMenT inForMaTion (ConT’D)

note nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B Other material non-cash expenses consist of the following items presented in the respective 
notes to the financial statements:

note 2012 2011
rM’000 rM’000

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 24 28 32
Property, plant and equipment written off 24 10 1
Loss on disposal of subsidiary company 24 2,426 -

2,464 33

C Impairment of assets consist of :

note 2012 2011
rM’000 rM’000

Impairment on investment properties 5 - 1,975
Impairment on property development costs 4(b) 200 -
Impairment on intangible asset 6 768 -
Impairment on quoted investment 24 243 -
Impairment on other receivables 24 5,789 -

7,000 1,975

D The following item is deducted from segment profit/(loss) to arrive at “Profit/(loss) before tax” 
presented in the income statement:

note 2012 2011
rM’000 rM’000

Share of results of associate 24 (250) - 

E The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment assets to arrive at total assets 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position:

2012 2011
rM’000 rM’000

Land held for property development 53,645 53,645
Intangible assets 23,173 23,942
Investment in associate 114 -
Property development cost 58,167 60,077
Inventories 1,491 1,491
Tax recoverable (385) (385)

136,205 138,770
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36. SegMenT inForMaTion (ConT’D)

note nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements (cont’d)

F The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position:

2012 2011
rM’000 rM’000

Deferred tax liability  72,638  72,638 

geographical segments

No geographical segment is prepared as the Group operates only in Malaysia.

37. SuppleMenTarY inForMaTion

 The breakdown of the retained earnings or accumulated losses of the Group and  the Company as at 31 
March 2012 into realised and unrealised profits or losses is presented in accordance with the directive 
issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad dated 25 March 2011 and prepared in accordance with 
Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by 
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

group Company
2012 2011 2012 2011

rM’000 rM’000 rM’000 rM’000

Total retained earnings/ 
(accumulated losses) 

- Unrealised (accumulated losses)/ 
retained earnings  (10,867)  (25,180)  (11)  8 

- Realised retained earnings/ 
(accumulated losses)  44,782  5,457  (734)  423 

 33,915  (19,723)  (745)  431 

Add : Consolidation adjustments  91,810  128,618  -  - 

Total retained earnings/ 
(accumulated losses)  125,725  108,895  (745)  431 
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list of ProPerties Held
as at 31 March 2012

location Description existing use Tenure
age of 

Building area
net Book 

Value

acquisition/
Completion 

Date

rM’000

Title No. TL 
17533505 Kota 
Kinabalu, Sabah

Land Investment 
property under 
construction/ 

Property under 
development

Leasehold 
expires : 

31/12/2076

N/A 15.45 
acres

250,331 27/10/1997

H.S. (D) 279025, 
PTB 20500, Bandar 
Johor Bahru, 
Mukim Johor, 
Johor

Land Property under 
development

Freehold N/A 11.68 
acres

74,868 23/3/2006

H.S. (D) 157186, 
PT 23762, Mukim 
Labu, Daerah 
Seremban, Negeri 
Sembilan

Land Vacant Leasehold 
expires : 

9/11/2102

N/A 399.84 
acres

54,000 23/3/2006

PT 298, HS (D) 
39196 Mukim 
Bandar Kundang, 
Gombak, Selangor

Land Vacant Leasehold 
expires : 

24/1/2101

N/A 49.97 
acres

26,000 30/3/2002

Title No. TL 
17540500 Kota 
Kinabalu, Sabah

Ground and 
basement 
carpark

Carpark 
operations

Leasehold 
Expires : 

31/12/2080

4 114,039 
sq. ft.

20,535 31/3/2008

PN 39178, Lot 
63579 Mukim of 
Batu, Wilayah 
Persekutuan

Land For Lease Leasehold 
expires : 

10/01/2087

N/A 6.23 
acres

12,736 11/1/1988

PN 39177, Lot 
No. 63582 Mukim 
of Batu, Wilayah 
Persekutuan

Land Property under 
development

Leasehold 
expires : 

10/01/2087

N/A 3 acres 8,703 11/1/1988

PN 39176, Lot 
No. 63581 Mukim 
of Batu, Wilayah 
Persekutuan 

Land Property under 
development

Leasehold 
expires : 

10/01/2087

N/A 6 acres 7,662 11/1/1988

Title No. TL 
17528942, 
Kampung 
Karamunsing, Kota 
Kinabalu, Sabah

Land Carpark 
operations

Leasehold 
expires : 

21/01/2901

2 52,433 
sq ft.

 6,897 31/10/2010

Lot No. 60967, 
PN 33305 Mukim 
of Batu, Wilayah 
Persekutuan

6 storey 
carpark 
building

Carpark 
operations

Leasehold 
expires : 

10/1/2102

6 0.472 
acre

 4,055 15/3/2007
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list of ProPerties Held
as at 31 March 2012

analysis of equity sHareHoldings
as at 31 July 2012

Authorized Share Capital : RM1,500,000,000
Issued and paid-up capital : RM195,062,992
Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares of RM0.20 each
Voting Rights : One vote per share

DiSTriBuTion oF SHareHolDerS/DepoSiTorS

Size of Holdings

no. of
Shareholders

Depositors

% of 
Shareholders/

Depositors
no. of

Shares Held
% of

issued Capital

1 – 99 206 1.031 4,192 0.000
100 – 1,000 4,013 20.096 3,901,356 0.400
1,001 – 10,000 10,748 53.823 51,905,101 5.321
10,001 – 100,000 4,226 21.162 159,538,872 16.357
100,001 – 48,765,747 775 3.881 672,865,439 68.989
48,765,748  and above 1 0.005 87,100,000 8.930
Total 19,969 100.000 975,314,960 100.000

liST oF THirTY largeST SHareHolDerS/DepoSiTorS

name
no. of

Shares Held
% of

issued Capital

1 M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Insas Credit & Leasing Sdn Bhd For Mah Sau Cheong

87,100,000 8.930

2 South Malaysia Industries Berhad 46,844,000 4.802
3 Mah Sau Cheong 32,712,000 3.353
4 Wong Chong Ngin 31,402,000 3.219
5 Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang 29,724,485 3.047
6 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

Pledged Securities Account for Mah Sau Cheong
23,550,000 2.414

7 Mah Wee Hian @ Mah Siew Kung 22,579,500 2.315
8 Bandar Sri Tujuh Sdn Bhd 21,000,000 2.153
9 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 

Exempt An for OCBC Securities Private Limited
18,013,899 1.846

10 Seraya Kota Sdn Bhd 16,765,000 1.718
11 ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

Pledged Securities Account for Mah Sau Cheong
11,500,000 1.179

12 Lee See Jin 11,374,600 1.166
13 Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

Pledged Securities Account for Rozanita Binti Zainal Abidin
11,000,000 1.127

14 HLB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account for Mah Siew Seong

9,400,000 0.963

15 Chee Sau Foong 9,000,000 0.922
16 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

Pledged Securities Account for Yeong Sin Khong
7,627,900 0.782

17 ECML Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
KKC for Kwan Chu Wah

7,349,855 0.753

18 Puncak Darul Naim Sdn Bhd 7,047,200 0.722
19 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 

CIMB Bank for Ng Wai Yuan 
6,933,000 0.710
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analysis of equity sHareHoldings
as at 31 July 2012 (cont’d)

liST oF THirTY largeST SHareHolDerS/DepoSiTorS (ConT’D)

name
no. of

Shares Held
% of

issued Capital

20 HDM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd for Pax Realty & Development Pte Ltd 

6,619,000 0.678

21 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account for Mah Sau Cheong

6,468,000 0.663

22 Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account-Arab-Malaysian Credit Berhad 
for Mah Sau Cheong

5,200,000 0.533

23 MP Factors Sdn Bhd 5,040,000 0.516
24 Chin Lai Kuen 5,000,000 0.512
25 Leow Pek Fong @ Liew Pek Fong 4,575,000 0.469
26 Gong Chiok Sin 4,167,000 0.427
27 Affluent Cycle Corporation Sdn Bhd 4,000,000 0.410
28 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd

Pledged Securities Account for Tan Chuan Ming
3,993,400 0.409

29 Teh Ooi Heong 3,900,000 0.399
30 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd

DSB Vickers (Hong Kong) Limited for Ho Sai Lon, Mark
3,769,000 0.386

463,654,839 47.523

SuBSTanTial SHareHolDerS
aS per regiSTer oF SuBSTanTial SHareHolDer 

no. of Shares Held
Direct % indirect %

Mah Sau Cheong 166,854,869 17.11 *5,753,000 0.59

DireCTorS’ inTereST in SHareS

no. of Shares Held
Direct % indirect %

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Hj Megat Najmuddin  
bin Datuk Seri Dr Hj Megat Khas

1,857,000 0.19 - -

Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang 32,850,985 3.37 *800,000 0.08
Dato’ Mohamed Salleh Bin Bajuri - - - -
Tan Siew Poh 850,436 0.09 - -

Note:
* Deemed interest by virtue of his spouse.

non-exeCuTiVe DireCTorS’ inTereST in eSoS

During the financial year, no options were granted to the Non-Executive Directors and none of the Non-
Executive Directors has exercised their options.
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analysis of equity sHareHoldings
as at 31 July 2012 (cont’d)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Ninety-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 
Ballroom 3, Level 1, Sime Darby Convention Centre, 1A, Jalan Bukit Kiara 1, 60000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 
24 September 2012 at 11.00 a.m. to transact the following business:-

agenDa

orDinarY BuSineSS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 
and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors.

Resolution 1

2. To re-elect Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang as Director of the Company who retire by 
rotation and being eligible offers himself for re-election in accordance with Article 115 
of the Company’s Articles of Association.

Resolution 2

3 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors to hold office for the 
ensuing year and to authorize the Directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 3

SpeCial BuSineSS

4 To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions with or without modifications 
as:-

a) ordinary resolution - authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of 
the Companies act 1965

Resolution 4

 THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act 1965 and subject to the 
approval of the relevant authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered 
to allot and issue shares in the Company from time to time at such price and upon 
such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion, deem fit PROVIDED that the aggregate number of shares to 
be issued for such person or persons whomever does not exceed 10% of the 
total issued share capital of the Company for the time being and that the Directors 
be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation 
for the additional shares so issued on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and 
that such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual 
general meeting of the Company.

b) ordinary resolution – Directors’ Fees Resolution 5
 To approve the Directors’ Fees of RM96,000.00 for the financial year ended 31 

March 2012.

5. To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1965 and the Company’s Articles of Association.

By Order of the Board
Chan Yoon Mun (MAICSA 0927219)
Ooi Mei Ying (MAICSA 7051036)
Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
1 September 2012

notice of annual general Meeting
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notes:

1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A 
proxy need not be a member and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act 1965 shall not apply to the Company. 
Where a member appoints more than one proxy to attend the same meeting, the member shall specify the proportion of his 
shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. A member shall not be entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and 
vote at the same meeting.

2) An instrument appointing a proxy, in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by his/her attorney and in 
the case of a corporation shall be either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or officer of the 
corporation so authorized.

3) An instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 12th Floor, Menara SMI, No. 6, 
Lorong P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or 
any adjournment thereof.

4) Explanatory Notes on Special Business:-
 

(a) resolution 4- Section 132D of the Companies act 1965
 The proposed Resolution 4, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the above Annual 

General Meeting, to issue shares in the Company up to and not exceeding in total ten percent (10%) of the issued 
share capital of the Company for the time being for such purposes as they consider would be in the best interest of the 
Company. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at the next annual general meeting of 
the Company.  

 The proposed resolution 4 is a renewal of general mandate that has been sought in the preceding year. There were no 
proceeds raised from the previous mandate given for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

 The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities including but not limited 
to further placing of shares, for the purpose of funding future investment project(s) working capital and/or acquisition.

(b) resolution 5 – Directors’ Fees
 The Directors’ Fees of RM96,000.00 is for services rendered by the directors concerned to the Company for the financial 

year ended 31 March 2012.

notice of annual general Meeting
(cont’d)



(COMPANY NO. 129-T)

PROXY FORM

I/We  (name of shareholder as per NRIC, in capital letters) 

IC No./ID No./Company No.  (new)  (old) 

of  (full address) 

being a member(s) of the abovenamed Company, hereby appoint  

(name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters) IC No.  (new)  (old) 

of  (full address) 

or failing him/her  (name of proxy as per NRIC, in capital letters) 

IC No.  (new)  (old) of  

 (full address) 
failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Ninety-
Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Ballroom 3, Level 1, Sime Darby Convention 
Centre, 1A, Jalan Bukit Kiara 1, 60000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 24 September 2012 at 11.00 a.m. and at each 
and every adjournment thereof.

With reference to the Agenda set forth in the Notice of Meeting, please indicate with an “X” in the spaces 
provided below how you wish your votes to be cast in resolutions specified.

no. reSoluTionS For againST
1 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2012
2 To re-elect Dato’ Mustapha Bin Buang as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 

115 of the Company’s Articles of Association
3 To re-elect Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and authorize the 

Directors to fix their remuneration
4 To give authority to Directors to issue shares under S132D of the Companies Act 1965
5 To approve Directors’ Fees of RM96,000.00 for the financial year ended 31 March 2012

Subject to any voting instructions so given, the proxy will vote or may abstain from voting on any resolutions as 
he may think fit.

Signature/Common Seal

Number of shares held: 

Date: 

Notes:
1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy 

need not be a member and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act 1965 shall not apply to the Company. Where a 
member appoints more than one proxy to attend the same meeting, the member shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to be 
represented by each proxy. A member shall not be entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.

2) An instrument appointing a proxy, in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the appointer or by his/her attorney and in the case of a 
corporation shall be either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or officer of the corporation so authorized.

3) An instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 12th Floor, Menara SMI, No. 6, Lorong 
P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment 
thereof. 

CDS account no. of authorized nominee

For appointment of two proxies, percentage 
of shareholdings to be represented by the 
proxies:

no. of shares percentage
Proxy 1  %
Proxy 2 %
Total 100%



Then fold here

1st fold here

Fold this flap for sealing

The Company Secretary
aSian paC HolDingS BerHaD

(Company No. 129-T)

12th Floor, Menara SMI,
No. 6, Lorong P. Ramlee

50250 Kuala Lumpur

AFFIX 
STAMP 
HERE
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